# Western University Scholarship@Western

**Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository** 

12-10-2012 12:00 AM

# Regulation of NK cell-mediated tubular epithelial cell death and kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury by the NKR-P1B receptor and Clr-b

James Yip, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Zhu-Xu Zhang, *The University of Western Ontario* Joint Supervisor: Anthony M. Jevnikar, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Pathology © James Yip 2012

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Medical Immunology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Yip, James, "Regulation of NK cell-mediated tubular epithelial cell death and kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury by the NKR-P1B receptor and Clr-b" (2012). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 1008. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/1008

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### REGULATION OF NK CELL-MEDIATED TUBULAR EPITHELIAL CELL DEATH AND KIDNEY ISCHEMIA-REPERFUSION INJURY BY THE NKR-P1B RECEPTOR AND CLR-B

(Spine title: Clr-b regulates NK cell-mediated TEC death and kidney IRI)

(Thesis format: Monograph)

by

James <u>Yip</u>

Graduate Program in Pathology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© James Yip 2012

THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

# CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

<u>Supervisors</u>

Examiners

Dr. Anthony Jevnikar

Dr. Chandan Chakraborty

Dr. Zhu-Xu Zhang

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Tianqing Peng

Dr. Lakshman Gunaratnam

Dr. Mansour Haeryfar

Dr. Zia Khan

The thesis by

James <u>Yip</u>

entitled:

# Regulation of NK cell-mediated tubular epithelial cell death and kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury by the NKR-P1B receptor and Clr-b

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Date

#### ABSTRACT

Renal ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) occurs following reduced renal blood flow and is a major cause of acute injury in both native and transplanted kidneys. We have previously demonstrated that NK cells can mediate tubular cell death and kidney IRI. Natural killer receptor-protein 1B (NKR-P1B) has been shown to interact with C-type lectin-related protein B (Clr-b), resulting in the suppression of NK cellmediated cytotoxicity.

Clr-b mRNA and protein expression in the kidney were up-regulated after renal IRI. Similar upregulation of Clr-b expression was seen in cytokine-challenged primarycultured tubular epithelial cells (TEC). Furthermore, NK cytotoxicity assays demonstrated enhanced necrotic death in TEC after Clr-b siRNA knockdown.

Our results indicate that Clr-b expression in TEC and the kidney is upregulated after injury. The blockade of Clr-b enhances NK cell-mediated TEC death and kidney injury. These studies suggest that enhancing the inhibitory Clr-b in transplant patients may protect the kidney from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

#### **KEYWORDS**

Tubular epithelial cell, NKR-P1B, Clr-b, cell death, ischemia-reperfusion injury

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am indebted to the members of the Jevnikar/Zhang lab: Pamela Gardner, Ziqin Yin and Xuyan Huang for all the care and technical support.

I would also like to thank the members of my advisory committee, Dr. Zia Khan and Dr. Mansour Haeryfar for all their guidance and support.

In particular, I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Zhu-Xu Zhang and Dr. Anthony Jevnikar for dedicating a significant amount of their time and effort to assist me in completing this project.

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATIONii			
ABSTRACT			
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiv	/		
TABLE OF CONTENTS	/		
LIST OF FIGURES	i		
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	(		
Chapter 11			
1 Introduction1			
1.1 The anatomy of the kidneys1			
1.2 Challenges in kidney transplantation	1		
1.3 Acute allograft injury in kidney transplantation	5		
1.4 Chronic allograft injury in kidney transplantation	)		
1.5 NK cell biology	)		
1.6 Role of NK cells on kidney injury12	2		
1.7 Regulatory roles of NKR-P1 receptors13	3		
1.8 NKR-P1B and Clr-b interaction21	I		
1.9 Hypothesis	3		
1.10Specific aims	3		
Chapter 227	7		
2 Materials and Methods	7		
2.1 Animals	7		
2.2 Antibodies and reagents27	7		
2.3 Primary kidney cell isolation and culture	3		
2.4 Isolation of NK cells	3		

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.5 Cytokine induction29	9
2.6 Hypoxia induction29	9
2.7 siRNA transfection	9
2.8 NK cell killing assay	0
2.9 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction	0
2.10Histological analyses	1
2.11Kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury3	1
2.12Kidney transplantation	2
2.13Statistical analyses32	2
Chapter 3	3
3 Results	3
3.1 Clr-b in BALB/c TEC increases upon pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF-α and IFN-γ treatment	3
3.2 Clr-b BALB/c TEC is not affected by hypoxia treatment	7
3.3 C57BL/6 TEC Clr-b increases upon pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF-α and IFN-γ treatment	d 0
3.4 C57BL/6 TEC CIr-b increases with hypoxic stress4	5
3.5 NKR-P1 expression vary between mouse strains	8
3.6 TNF-α and IFN-γ did not affect TEC sensitivity to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity	3
3.7Antibody Clr-b blockade did not affect NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in TEC	; 6
3.8 Clr-b knockdown by siRNA in TEC increased NK cell-mediated death5	9
3.9 Clr-b in BALB/c kidneys increases in renal IRI64	4
3.10C57BL/6 and C3H kidney Clr-b increases in renal IRI6	7
3.11BALB/c mice are more resistant to renal IRI than C57BL/672	2
3.12Clr-b decreases in C57BL/6 to F1 kidney transplants	8
Chapter 48 <sup>4</sup>	1

4	Discussion	. 81	
	4.1 Summary of this study	. 81	
	4.2 Regulation of NK cell ligand Clr-b in TEC and the kidney	. 81	
	4.3 Clr-b expression in TEC inhibits NK cell activity	. 86	
	4.4 Knock down of Clr-b using siRNA technology	. 89	
	4.5 IRI susceptibility and strain-dependent genetic differences	. 92	
	4.6 Conclusions	. 94	
	4.7 Future directions	. 95	
Re	eferences	. 96	
С	Curriculum Vitae		

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Structure of the kidney
Figure 2. NKR-P1 receptors contain classical ITAM ITIM motifs20
Figure 3. NK cells express a plethora of receptors to regulate cytotoxicity25
Figure 4. Clr-b ligand in primary-cultured BALB/c kidney TEC increases upon pro- inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$ treatment in a time-dependent manner35
Figure 5. Clr-b ligand in primary-cultured BALB/c kidney TEC is not affected by hypoxia treatment
Figure 6. Primary-cultured C57BL/6 kidney TEC Clr-b level increases upon pro- inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$ treatment in a time-dependent manner43
Figure 7. Primary-cultured C57BL/6 kidney TEC Clr-b level increases with hypoxic stress in a time-dependent manner
Figure 8. NKR-P1 receptors expression profile in C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice50
Figure 9. Clr ligands mRNA expression is higher in primary-cultured TEC from C57BL/6 mice than BALB/c mice
Figure 10. Clr-b up-regulation by the cytokines TNF-α and IFN-γ did not affect NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in BALB/c kidney TEC
Figure 11. Clr-b blockade by monoclonal antibody did not affect NK cell cytotoxicity in BALB/c kidney TEC
Figure 12. Clr-b knockdown by siRNA transfection in BALB/c primary-cultured TEC increases NK cell cytotoxicity63
Figure 13. BALB/c kidney Clr-b expression increases with renal IRI in a time- dependent manner

Figure 14. C57BL/6 and C3H kidney CIr-b expression increases with renal IRI in a
time-dependent manner71
Figure 15. Ischemia-reperfusion injury model is optimal at 33 °C in BALB/c mice77
Figure 16. Clr-b ligand in kidney decreases in C57BL/6 to F1 transplants80

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
AIRL	Antibody-induced redirected lysis
ARF	Acute renal failure
bFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
CAN	Chronic allograft nephropathy
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
Clr	C-type lectin-related
CK2	Casein kinase 2
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
C-TGF	Connective tissue growth factor
DAP10	DNAX-activation protein of 10 kDa
dsRNA	Double-stranded tibonuvlriv svif
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting

- FADD Fas-associated protein with death domain
- FasL Fas ligand
- FcRγ Fc receptor γ-chain
- FLIP Fas-associated death domain-like interleukin-1β converting enzyme like inhibitory protein
- GEF-H1 Guanine nucleotide exchange factor H1
- GM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
- H60 Histocompatibility 60
- HGF Hepatocyte growth factor
- HMGB-1 High-mobility group protein 1
- IAP Inhibitor-of-apoptosis protein
- ICAM-1 Intracellular cell adhesion molecule-1
- IFN-γ Interferon-γ
- IFNGR1 IFN-γ receptor 1
- IFNGR2 IFN-y receptor 2
- Ig Immunoglobulin
- IL Interleukin
- iNOS Inducible nitric oxide synthase
- IRI Ischemia-reperfusion injury
- ITAM Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
- ITIM Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif

JAK	Janus kinase
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
KARAP	Killer activating receptor-associated protein
KIR	Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor
KLRG1	Killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily G member 1
LAK	Lymphokine-activated killer
Lck	Lymphocyte-specific tyrosine kinase
LLT1	Lectin-like transcript-1
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	Mononuclear chemoattractant protein-1
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MULT-1	Murine UL16 binding protein-like transcript 1
NF-κB	Nuclear factor κB
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NK	Natural killer
NKC	Natural killer gene complex
NKG2D	Natural-killer group 2 member D
NKR-P1	Natural killer receptor-protein 1

Nkp46	Natural killer cell p46-related protein
NO	Nitric oxide
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF-BB	Platelet-derived growth factor-BB
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
RAE-1	Retinoic acid early inducible-1
RCTL	Rat cytomegalovirus C-type lectin-like
RhoA	Ras homolog gene family member A
RIPK	Receptor-interacting protein kinase
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNAi	RNA interference
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SHP-1	Src homology phosphatase-1
shRNA	Short-hairpin RNA
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
Syk	Spleen tyrosine kinase
TACE	Tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$ converting enzyme
TEC	Tubular epithelial cells
TFIID	Transcription factor II D
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β

- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TNF-α Tumour necrosis factor-α
- TNFR1 Tumour necrosis factor receptor type 1
- TNFR2 Tumour necrosis factor receptor type 2
- TRADD Tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated death domain
- TRAF2 TNF receptor-associated factor 2
- TRAIL TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
- VCAM-1 Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1

# Chapter 1

# 1 Introduction

# 1.1 The anatomy of the kidneys

The kidney is a bean-shaped structure with a concave and convex surface (Figure 1). The concave surface lies the renal hilum, where the renal artery enters the organ and the renal vein and ureter exit. Surrounding the kidney is the renal capsule, composed of fibrous tissue, which is in turn surrounded by the adipose capsule, renal fascia and pararenal fat. The parenchyma is divided into the superficial renal cortex and the deep renal medulla. These structures consist of cone-shaped renal pyramids and renal columns spanning both the renal cortex and medulla. Within these structures are nephrons acting as the functional units of the kidney (Figure 1). The initial filtering portion of a nephron is the renal corpuscle, located in the cortex, followed by a renal tubule in the medullary pyramids. The medullary ray is a collection of renal tubules and part of the renal cortex that drains into a single collecting duct. Each renal pyramid empties urine into a minor calyx. The minor calyces empty into major calyces, which empty into the renal pelvis.



.

# Figure 1. Structure of the kidney

The kidney is divided into the renal cortex and medulla, consisting of renal pyramids and renal columns. Nephrons are functional units that span the cortex and medulla. Damage and the resulting inflammation in these structures may lead to renal dysfunction and organ loss in severe cases.

# 1.2 Challenges in kidney transplantation

The most common risk factors associated with chronic kidney disease (CKD) between 2005 – 2010 in the United States are *diabetes mellitus*, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease<sup>223</sup>. In early stages of CKD, proper diet and medication may help the kidney maintain function. When kidney function drops below 10-15%, however, complications may develop and can lead to death<sup>254</sup>. In these cases, patients will require dialysis or a kidney transplant. Kidney diseases may involve the glomerulus such as diabetic nephropathy, bacterial endocarditis, Alport Syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis<sup>81</sup>. Diseases such as polycystic kidney disease<sup>144</sup> and reflux nephropathy<sup>61</sup> cause damage to the tubulointerstitium, while vascular damages may result from renal artery stenosis<sup>48</sup> and Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome<sup>16</sup>. Kidney stones<sup>46</sup> and prostate diseases<sup>187</sup> may also lead to obstruction of the kidney. These diseases result in renal dysfunction and, if severe, may require patients to undergo kidney transplantation or dialysis.

Kidney transplantation may be necessary for patients with end-stage renal diseases. A typical kidney transplant patient is expected to live 10 to 15 years longer than on dialysis<sup>256</sup>. However, kidney transplantation may involve an array of complications that ultimately result in organ injury and rejection. Factors affecting organ viability includes donor age, prolonged cold ischemic time, delayed graft function and acute tubular necrosis, living or deceased donor, renal mass, and donor brain injury<sup>103</sup>. Side effects of immunosuppressants may lead to sepsis and viral infections, including human cytomegalovirus and Bren nan-Krohn polyomavirus<sup>103</sup>. Recipient factors affecting kidney grafts may include lipid disorders, diabetes, recurrent diseases, compliance, hypertension, and obstruction<sup>103</sup>. At the immunological level, allograft injury may be caused by direct or indirect allorecognition, donor-host mismatch, subclinical inflammation, co-stimulatory signaling, inadequate immunosuppression, or antibody-mediated rejection<sup>103</sup>. The resultant inflammation may lead to kidney failure and graft loss.

#### 1.3 Acute allograft injury in kidney transplantation

Transplantation is invariably associated with organ injury resulting from ischemiareperfusion injury (IRI)<sup>127</sup>, inflammation<sup>218</sup>, drug toxicity<sup>45</sup> and rejection<sup>235</sup>. The kidney is vulnerable to diverse forms of injury leading to dysfunction and, in most severe instances, delayed graft function. Similarly, IRI, which occurs during the early stage of kidney transplant surgery, is a major cause of delayed graft function and if severe can lead to early allograft loss<sup>214</sup>. Renal IRI is a major cause of acute renal failure (ARF) and is associated with reduced renal blood flow, contributing to up to 50% mortality rate<sup>225</sup>. Following ischemia, there is oxidative stress causing cytokine and chemokine upregulation and also cell death. The result is the recruitment of inflammatory cells, which further mediates injury through direct cell-cell contact or indirect cytokine and chemokine production inside the graft<sup>164, 232</sup>. Recruitment of leukocytes into the site of injury is mediated by cell adhesion molecules<sup>37, 164</sup>.

A broad range of extracellular and intracellular factors contribute to IRI. Studies have demonstrated that Fas-Fas ligand (FasL) interactions between tubular epithelial cells (TEC) lead to self-induced and inflammatory cell-mediated apoptosis<sup>67, 68, 173</sup>. This death receptor pathway of apoptosis involves caspase-8 activity, as Fas stimulation by anti-Fas antibody causes liver destruction and mortality only in mice with functional caspase-8<sup>175</sup>. Lethality in caspase-8deficient mice has been traced to failure in early vascularization and haematopoietic development<sup>238</sup>. Lack of functional Fas, FasL or caspase-8 also results accumulates Т lymphocytes and in progressive severe lymphoaccumulation<sup>175, 215</sup>.

Disruption of Fas-FasL interactions or Fas signaling through caspase-8 inhibition *in vivo* has proven to be successful in rodent kidney transplant models by our group<sup>69, 166, 266</sup>. It has been difficult, however, to establish a role for this receptor in allograft injury because Fas expression may vary nonspecifically in the graft<sup>25</sup>.

A study on genes involved with host-mediated cellular response in renal biopsies from transplant patients found high expression of perforin, granzyme B and FasL<sup>211</sup>. In acute renal allograft rejection, TEC death commonly occurs *via* both the perforin and granzyme B lytic pathways and Fas-FasL system<sup>25, 84, 253</sup>. Studies examining perforin and granzyme B found that this pathway was responsible for cluster of differentiation (CD)4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocyte-mediated renal tubular cell destruction<sup>129, 177, 253</sup>. The Fas-FasL system, on the other hand, has been shown to reduce immune responses by initiating apoptosis of immune cells<sup>58, 196</sup> and apoptosis of TEC<sup>180, 239</sup>. FasL is expressed not only on macrophages, neutrophils, T, B and natural killer (NK) cells, but also TEC<sup>25, 179</sup>, where it induces the elimination of antigen-activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes<sup>3</sup>. Fas-FasL interactions have also been associated with chronic renal injury and graft survival, and Fas polymorphisms may affect graft survival<sup>202</sup>.

Involvement of endogenous tumour necrosis factor-α (TNF-α) has also been documented in kidney IRI<sup>53, 62, 63</sup>. Resident dendritic cells appear to be the predominant source in the early-stages<sup>62</sup>, and TNF-α binding with its receptor induces one of the death receptor pathways of apoptosis<sup>11</sup>. This pathway involves the adaptor molecule Fas-Associated protein with Death Domain (FADD), which binds to the intracellular region of the receptor. FADD activates caspase-8 and initiates apoptosis<sup>23</sup>. Fas-associated death domain-like interleukin-1β converting enzyme-like inhibitory protein (FLIP) is an endogenous inhibitor that resembles caspase-8 but lacks a catalytic site and antagonizes this pathway<sup>227</sup>. However, biochemical and structural studies have indicated that FLIP can heterodimerize with caspase-8 to impart catalytic activity, even in the absence of interdomain cleavage which is typically required for caspase-8 homodimer stabilization and activity<sup>22, 39</sup>. Gene ablation of caspase-8<sup>238</sup>, FADD<sup>259</sup> or FLIP<sup>258</sup> leads to embryonic lethality, illustrating the physiological significance of these proteins.

Recent studies have revealed that knockdown of caspase-8 does not simply prevent cell death but also sensitizes cells to necrosis<sup>240</sup>. Necrotic induction by

TNF-α in response to caspase-8 inhibitors involves the kinase activity of receptor-interacting protein kinase (RIPK)-1<sup>57, 94</sup> and -3<sup>44, 89, 263</sup>. NADPH oxidase, mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS)<sup>240</sup>, and metabolic enzymes<sup>263</sup> production have been demonstrated as possible downstream effectors of RIPK3. Interestingly, while caspase-8 deletion is lethal during embryonic development, RIPK3 ablation rescues the lethal phenotype of caspase-8-deficient mice<sup>175</sup>. RIPK1 and RIPK3 associate with FADD to induce necrosis only after caspase-8 or FLIP knockdown, as the caspase-8-FLIP heterodimer prevents their stabilization through RIPK1 cleavage<sup>175, 185</sup>. TNF receptor type 1 (TNFR1), Fas and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) receptors are all capable of triggering RIPK-dependent necrosis in the absence of caspase-8<sup>94</sup>.

Besides conventional Fas- and TNF-α-induced cell death, TEC apoptosis can also result from oxidative stress and its associated mediators, including ROS, cytokines, chemokines and nitric oxide (NO)<sup>66, 82, 164, 232</sup>. Under physiological conditions, ROS are broken down by superoxides and other oxidases, including superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase. During IRI, however, the excessive production of ROS overwhelms the free radical scavenging system. The consequence is lipid peroxidation of cell membranes, DNA fragmentation, and sulfhydryl-mediated protein cross-linkage, all of which leads to cellular injury<sup>232</sup>. Compromise of mitochondrial ATP production can also inhibit the sarcoplasmic reticulum's calcium ATPase and sodium-potassium ATPase activities, leading to cellular calcium accumulation<sup>92</sup>. It has been demonstrated that oxygen radicals result in the chemotaxis of neutrophils, which are sources of further radical generation<sup>195</sup>.

NO production or inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) upregulation during inflammation has been reported in infiltrating mononuclear cells<sup>167</sup> and within the kidney, including glomerular, mesangial, smooth muscle and tubular epithelial cells<sup>153, 184, 193</sup>. NO, while at low levels exert cytoprotective effects, are potentially toxic at higher levels<sup>129</sup>. Studies have revealed that the production of cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) leads to increased expression of

7

iNOS<sup>15, 167, 241</sup>. The resulting increase in nitric oxide promotes FasL expression, causing Fas- and caspase-8-mediated apoptosis<sup>71, 86, 241</sup>. Many of the toxic effects of NO are mediated indirectly by its oxidative reaction products, such as peroxynitrite. In the kidney, higher nitric oxide concentrations have been demonstrated to promote cellular injury<sup>153, 184, 193</sup>.

Chemokines are also early major mediators of inflammation, promoting proinflammatory cytokine expression, upregulating endothelial cell adhesion molecules, leukocyte infiltration and activation. The CC, CXC, and CX3C chemokine families have been implicated in kidney IRI<sup>102, 220</sup>. Renal IRI results in activation of the complement system in TEC and induces cells to produce proinflammatory chemokines<sup>4</sup>. TEC have been shown to express toll-like receptor (TLR)-2 and -4 which cause the production of a variety of chemokines, some of which can also be induced by complement activation fragments, including CXCL1, macrophage inflammatory protein 2 (MIP-2), IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha^4$ .

Previous studies have demonstrated that macrophages and neutrophils infiltrate the kidney post-injury, playing an important role in tubular dysfunction<sup>24, 56, 65, 261</sup>. It has also been suggested that many cell types of the adaptive immune system participate in kidney IRI<sup>10, 27, 54, 55, 188, 201, 262</sup>. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been demonstrated to infiltrate the organ within the first 4 hours but vanish after a day following ischemia, coined the "hit-and-run" phenomenon<sup>10, 77, 135</sup> and likely through the Fas-FasL pathway<sup>121</sup>. In addition, CD19<sup>+</sup> B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> NK1.1<sup>+</sup> NKT cells, and CD3<sup>-</sup> NK1.1<sup>+</sup> NK cells also infiltrate the kidney shortly after injury, suggesting that a complex multi-factorial inflammatory response is triggered by kidney IRI<sup>10</sup>. This is further supported by studies showing that NKT cells promote neutrophil infiltration and IFN-γ production after IRI<sup>142</sup>, while NK cells also promote neutrophil infiltration and TEC expression of CD137<sup>115</sup>. As kidney injury results from multiple molecular events in TEC and inflammatory cells, further investigation is necessary for a more thorough understanding of inflammationmediated kidney injuries.

# 1.4 Chronic allograft injury in kidney transplantation

While acute rejection rates are very low in the era of modern immunosuppression, chronic renal injury remains a significant clinical issue. There are several characterizations of chronic allograft nephropathy (CAN), including progressive tubular atrophy and interstitial fibrosis, as well as microvascular and glomerular damage<sup>103</sup>. Graft function may decline within months to years after transplantation<sup>103</sup>. The incidence of this disorder can be up to 60% of grafts 10 years post-transplant. As there are currently no specific strategies to prevent CAN, a more direct approach to limit TEC atrophy and fibrosis may produce better long-term outcomes for kidney grafts.

Tubular epithelial cells comprise more than 75% of renal parenchymal cells and their susceptibility to injury directs long-term function of kidney allografts, as tubular injury can be a primary cause for nephron loss<sup>191</sup>. Apoptosis is an innate mechanism required for kidney remodelling and repair. When cell death exceeds the kidney's regenerative capacity, there may be loss of function and even premature graft failure. In many patients, a gradual loss of renal function occurs after transplantation, causing chronic allograft injury and becoming a critical problem in clinical settings<sup>214</sup>. Although kidney tubular cells are highly capable of regeneration after injury<sup>174</sup>, it remains unclear as to how early-stage ischemic injury negatively influences allograft function over long-term survival.

Studies have suggested that IRI may play a role in permitting kidney allograft tolerance<sup>40, 50, 128, 169</sup>. Recent studies have demonstrated that lymphatic neoangiogenesis may contribute to chronic renal graft injury<sup>112, 113</sup>. Tertiary lymphoid tissues have been found in patients with graft loss<sup>114</sup> and are associated with chronic rejection and alloantibody production<sup>226</sup>. Others have suggested that epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) may be a common pathway leading to chronic graft function loss<sup>244, 251</sup>. EMT has been described in other chronic kidney diseases with fibrosis, and TEC injury has been associated

with the development of fibroblasts within the interstitium of the kidney<sup>108</sup>. Consistent with this, connective tissue growth factor (C-TGF) and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) have been shown to be involved in the fibrotic response in kidney allografts<sup>42, 51, 52, 78</sup>. In kidney transplant models, C-TGF can induce transformation of kidney TEC into fibroblasts<sup>42</sup>. Furthermore, high-mobility group protein 1 (HMGB-1) has been observed as an extracellular secreted protein in serum of patients with sepsis and regulates the production of interleukin (IL)-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  during inflammation<sup>70</sup>. HMGB-1 has been suggested to be a key mediator of immune-mediated EMT in TEC by reducing E-cadherin expression, increasing  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin expression and enhancing cell migration<sup>151</sup>. Other factors involved in augmenting TGF- $\beta$  signalling, such as endothelin-1<sup>231</sup>, platelet-derived growth factor-BB (PDGF-BB), epidermal growth factor (EGF), and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)<sup>247</sup>, or counteracting TGF- $\beta$  signalling, such as bone morphogenic protein-7 and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), are also potentially important in the response to injury.

Although progress has been made, greater knowledge about the pathophysiology of IRI and chronic kidney graft injury is required to develop rational and effective therapeutics. There are currently no specific treatments available to prevent IRI, as it involves a complex biological process and many contributing factors that have not yet been clearly identified. Understanding the precise mechanisms behind IRI and late kidney graft loss is therefore vital for identifying clinically-effective approaches.

#### 1.5 NK cell biology

NK cells are predominantly derived from the bone marrow and provide a first line of defense against pathogens and cancer. Immature NK cells lie in the bone marrow and lymph nodes, whereas mature NK cells can be primarily found in the spleen, peripheral blood, and lungs<sup>6, 88, 116</sup>. Studies have demonstrated the existence of bipotent NK/T progenitor cells in the thymus<sup>35, 64, 192</sup>. NK cells are

responsible for attacking abnormal or foreign cells by releasing perforin and granzymes to initiate cytotoxicity, or secreting inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF). NK cells are believed to be triggered based on the "missing-self" hypothesis, where target cells with defective major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I expression are identified and eliminated by NK cells. Viruses such as cytomegaloviruses and human immunodeficiency viruses can evade the NK cell's immune surveillance system by manipulating the balancing of NK receptor signalling interactions<sup>178</sup>.

The natural killer gene complex (NKC) encodes type II integral membrane proteins with C-type lectin-like extracellular domains<sup>260</sup>. Receptors from the same family have been demonstrated to exhibit opposing functions. For example, Ly49A, Ly49C, and Ly49G recognize MHC Class I antigens and act as inhibitory receptors, while Ly49D and Ly49H stimulate NK cell activity<sup>109, 118, 156, 217</sup>. Inhibitory Ly-49 engagement prevents NK cells from attacking "self-MHC" class Iexpressing cells, whereas activating receptors such as natural-killer group 2 member D (NKG2D) permit NK cells to attack "non-self" MHC molecules and cells deficient of self-MHC class I molecules. In the presence of normal MHC class I molecules, inhibitory receptors tend to dominate NK cell function<sup>182</sup>. However, activating receptors can overcome the inhibition depending on the target cell's regulation of its surface ligands. For example, stress-induced expression of ligands for NKG2D can activate NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity even in the presence of MHC class I molecules<sup>17, 59</sup>. As NK cell activity is modulated by multiple receptors, further studies need to be conducted to elucidate their functions.

NK cell receptor expression can also mark different developmental stages. Natural killer receptor-protein 1 (NKR-P1) acquisition is an early developmental event, followed by CD94/NKG2. Final NK cell maturation is reached after Ly49 expression, consisting of a full set of NK cell receptors and effector functions<sup>73,</sup> <sup>117</sup>. In mice and humans, fully mature NK cells can be identified by expression of the integrin CD11b<sup>116</sup>. Interestingly, immature murine NK cells are CD11b<sup>-</sup>CD27<sup>-</sup> and transit through CD11b<sup>-</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup> and CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>+</sup> until fully maturing as CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD27<sup>-</sup>cells<sup>43, 88</sup>. In humans, NK cells can be differentiated based on their surface density of CD56<sup>76, 137, 206</sup>. Fully differentiated NK cells are associated with low CD56 expression and are highly cytotoxic, whereas less mature and cytotoxic NK cells have high expression of CD56<sup>216, 245</sup>. NK cells expressing high levels of CD56 are believed to be the main contributors of IFN-γ release upon cytokine stimulation, while NK cells with low CD56 can produce IFN-γ upon interaction with target cells<sup>72</sup>. Low-expressing CD56 NK cells are also associated with Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) expression, and highexpression is found primarily in NK cells with Ly49 stimulatory receptor 3, while NKG2 receptors are mainly expressed in NK cell subsets with NKR-P1B<sup>100, 133</sup>. NK cell development undergoes various stages of maturation through the programmed acquisition of receptors and ligands.

# 1.6 Role of NK cells on kidney injury

NK cells are important participants in early-stage innate immune responses. In solid organ transplantation, NK cells have emerged as a particular focus of interest because of their potent cytolytic activity and their ability to distinguish between allogeneic MHC antigens. NK cells have been shown to participate in both acute and chronic rejection of solid organ allografts<sup>18</sup> and are influenced by immunosuppressive drugs such as calcineurin inhibitors, steroids, or therapeutic antibodies. After ischemia, NK cells quickly infiltrate kidney grafts and participate in renal IRI<sup>265</sup>. It has been demonstrated in several studies that NK cells can determine transplant survival by rejecting an allograft indirectly by influencing the alloreactivity of T cells or by killing antigen-presenting cells<sup>28</sup>. Recent findings also demonstrated that NK cells can induce allograft tolerance, suggesting that the role of NK cells in graft rejection and tolerance needs to be reconsidered. In

order to understand the role of NK cells in kidney injury, it is important to decipher the mechanisms regulating NK cell function in the kidney.

Unlike T and B cell responses, NK cells are constitutively cytotoxic and can lyse target cells without pre-sensitization. Along with cellular toxicity, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ production by NK cells form an essential component of their innate immune response<sup>150, 246, 268</sup>. We have recently shown that NK cells can lyse TEC in a perforin-dependent manner and contribute to renal IRI<sup>264, 265</sup>. NK cells infiltrate the kidney as early as 30 minutes after IRI and regress to low levels after 24 hours<sup>265</sup>. Depletion of NK cells in mice inhibited kidney IRI and adoptive transfer of NK cells worsen injury<sup>265</sup>. We also previously found that, while osteopontin is important for tissue repair and can inhibit TEC apoptosis, it is highly expressed in the kidney after IRI and contribute to NK cell activation and mediate TEC death<sup>264</sup>. Furthermore, increases in the NKG2D ligands retinoic acid early inducible-1 (Rae-1), murine ULBP-like transcript 1 (MULT-1) and histocompatibility 60 (H60) were also observed in mouse kidneys after renal IRI<sup>41,</sup> <sup>265</sup>. Ectopic expression of Rae-1b or H60 in various tumour cell lines have resulted in NK cell-mediated rejection of the tumour cells by syngeneic mice<sup>60</sup>. As a subset of NK cells remain long-term in kidney grafts, a potential role for NK cells exist in chronic graft dysfunction as well as regulation of NK cell function by the kidney.

### 1.7 Regulatory roles of NKR-P1 receptors

An early method for NK cell purification involved the immunization of C3H mice with CE thymocytes to produce  $\alpha$ -Ly1.2 anti-serum, capable of depleting NK cell activity<sup>80</sup>. Afterwards, it was discovered that anti-NK cell specificity could be isolated serologically by selectively adsorbing the C3H  $\alpha$ -CE anti-serum into BALB/c thymocytes or splenocytes<sup>80</sup>. The NK alloantigen, called "NK-1," was broadly used to define and purify NK cells<sup>124, 126</sup>. This led to the development of an  $\alpha$ -NK1.1 monoclonal antibody (mAb), PK136, by Koo and Peppard<sup>125</sup>. PK136

identifies NK cells from CE, B6, NZB, C58, Ma/My, ST, and SJL mice, but not BALB/c, AKR, CBA, C3H, DBA, or 129 mice<sup>80, 126</sup>. It was reported that blocking the NK1.1 antigen did not alter NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and that the 39 kDa glycoprotein stimulated NK cell function upon cross-linking<sup>110, 125, 210</sup>.

The NK1.1 alloantigen is now widely used as a marker for NK cell identification. Previous studies have revealed that NK1.1 is a member of the NKR-P1 family of disulfide-linked homodimeric type II transmembrane C-type lectin-like receptors<sup>34,</sup> <sup>79, 183, 200</sup>, which includes NKR-P1, killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily G member 1 (KLRG1), Ly49, CD94-NKG2A/C/E, and NKG2D receptors. It has further been determined that the NK1.1 alloantigen is NKR-P1C in C57BL/6 mice and NKR-P1B in the SJL/Sw strain, while the anti-NK1.1 mAb recognizes neither NKR-P1B nor NKR-P1C in the BALB/c strain<sup>32, 34, 131, 200</sup>. Furthermore, the Nkr-p1 cluster was found to be located on chromosome 6 in mice and chromosome 12 in humans<sup>200</sup>. Currently, the Nkr-p1a, -b, -c, -d, -e, -f and -g genes have been identified, although further analysis suggests that *Nkr-p1e* is nonfunctional<sup>34, 183</sup>. During development, NK cells express NKR-P1C, NKR-P1D and NKR-P1F before the expression of most members of the Ly49 family in C57BL/6 mice<sup>12</sup>. It has also been demonstrated that (C57BL/6 × BALB/c)F<sub>1</sub> NK cells and (C57BL/6 × 129/Sv)F1 NK cells express proportionally the same C57BL/6 isoform of NKR-P1C and NKR-P1D by immunostaining<sup>12</sup>. Studies have identified that the inhibitory NKR-P1B and NKR-P1D receptors are recognized by C-type lectinrelated (Clr)-b<sup>31</sup>, and the stimulatory NKR-P1F receptor is recognized by Clr-g<sup>99</sup>.

Sequencing and functional studies indicate that the NKR-P1A, NKR-P1C and NKR-P1F receptors exert stimulatory effects on NK cells, whereas NKR-P1B and NKR-P1D are inhibitory<sup>9, 32, 99, 110, 131, 181</sup>. NKR-P1A, NKR-P1C and NKR-P1F contain positively charged amino acid residues in its transmembrane domain, and association of ligands with its Fcγ chain delivers stimulatory signals, transmitted via the FcRγ adaptor molecule, that triggers cytotoxic activity and cytokine secretion<sup>9, 110</sup>. FcRγ is known to transduce signals for FcγRIII and FccRI in immunoglobulin<sup>9</sup>. It has been suggested that association with FcRγ involves

the charged transmembrane R residue in the NKR-P1 receptors and the corresponding transmembrane D residue in FcRy<sup>32</sup>. Stimulatory NKR-P1 receptor cross-linking presumably results in phosphorylation of the FcRy immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) Y residues, leading to downstream recruitment of the spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk), and activation of NK cvtotoxicity<sup>9, 32</sup>. ITAMs are also known to associate with other adaptor molecules such as killer activating receptor-associated protein (KARAP) or DNAX-activation protein of 10 kDa (DAP10). Protein tyrosine kinases with Src homology 2 domains or phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) can then bind to phosphorylated tyrosine residues and modulate downstream signalling (Figure 2)<sup>182</sup>. Antibody cross-linkage to rat NKR-P1A in a previous study provoked antibody-induced redirected lysis (AIRL), phosphatidylinositol turnover, and calcium flux<sup>38, 197</sup>. In C57BL/6 murine NK cells, NKR-P1C was also observed to mediate AIRL and IFN-y production<sup>7, 110</sup>. The murine NKR-P1C receptor has been implicated in allorecognition by studies involving the NK-mediated F1 anti-parent "hybrid resistance" phenomenon<sup>130</sup>.

NKR-P1B and NKR-P1D, however, lack charged transmembrane residues and possess an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) in the cytoplasmic domain, which interacts with Src homology phosphatase-1 (SHP-1) in a phosphorylation-dependent manner to produce inhibitory signals (Figure 2)<sup>32, 99, 131, 181</sup>. Sequence analysis revealed that mouse NKR-P1B lacks a charged transmembrane R residue due to a single amino acid deletion in its sequence<sup>25</sup>. Mutation of the NKR-P1B cytoplasmic ITIM Y residue was found to eliminate both SHP-1 recruitment and inhibitory responses<sup>147</sup>. NKR-P1B was also demonstrated to produce inhibitory signals in PK136-mediated AIRL assays<sup>32, 131</sup>, and cross-linking of both NKR-P1B and NKR-P1C on (B6 x Sw)F1 LAK cells using PK136 mAb revealed a dominance of NKR-P1B inhibitory response over NKR-P1C stimulatory signaling<sup>32</sup>. In rats, NKR-P1B displayed dominant inhibitory function over 2B4-mediated cytotoxicity<sup>141</sup>. Similarly, mouse NKR-P1B overexpression in the human YTSeco NK cell line also showed dominant inhibition over 2B4 function<sup>147</sup>.

Furthermore, Inngjerdingen and colleagues have demonstrated in rats that NKR-P1B's expression pattern varies between compartments. Particularly, in comparison with other organs, NKR-P1B is prevalent in the peripheral blood, mesenteric lymph nodes, Peyer's patches and the liver<sup>100</sup>. Relatively low levels of NKR-P1B were detected on the surface of NK cells residing in the bone marrow and cervical/inguinal lymph nodes<sup>100</sup>, suggesting developmental-stage specific NKR-P1B expression. Interestingly, a distinct pattern of chemokine receptors was observed between these NK cell populations. In the highly NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> NK cell population there were higher levels of CX<sub>3</sub>CR1, CXCR6 and CCR5, and lower levels of CCR7 and CCR9 than the low NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> population<sup>100</sup>. NK cells with high NKR-P1B expression were demonstrated to be more responsive in terms of IFN-γ production<sup>100</sup>.

Sequence analysis of mouse and rat NKR-P1 receptors revealed that all isoforms possess a cytoplasmic CxCP motif similar to those found in the CD4 and CD8 receptors<sup>30, 199, 236</sup>. This motif is known to associate with Lymphocyte-specific tyrosine kinase (Lck), a Src-related protein tyrosine kinase<sup>236</sup>. A study demonstrated that association between Lck and rat NKR-P1A was dependent on the CxCP motif, as mutation of both C residues abrogated the interaction<sup>30</sup>. Mutation of a single C residue in the CxCP motifs of mouse NKR-P1B and NKR-P1C either abolished or greatly reduced the capacity of the receptors produce intact signals<sup>147</sup>. NK cells from C57BL/6 *lck<sup>-/-</sup>* mice displayed significantly less PK136-mediated AIRL of FcR<sup>+</sup> P815 mastocytoma targets, demonstrating the necessity of Lck in NKR-P1C function. Lck-deficient bone marrow-derived lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells were more severely impaired in NK1.1mediated AIRL than splenic LAK cells, suggesting other signalling mechanisms may compensate for the Lck deficiency during NK cell maturation<sup>147</sup>. Upon receptor activation, Lck phosphorylates the ITIM tyrosine residue, facilitating recruitment of the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase. Thus, both the stimulatory and inhibitory NKR-P1 receptors utilize the CxCP motif to initiate their signalling pathways.

As NKR-P1A, NKR-P1D and NKR-P1F are weakly expressed on NK cells, activation of these receptors has been shown to have no significant effect on NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity<sup>12</sup>. NKR-P1A is expressed at very low levels on NK cells and some activated T cells, while undetectable on NKT cells. IL-2-activated NKT cells were demonstrated to express NKR-P1C, low levels of NKR-P1A, and no NKR-P1D and NKR-P1F<sup>12</sup>. While the endogenous ligand is unknown, rat NKR-P1A was shown to functionally recognize a xenogeneic ligand expressed on several mouse tumour lines<sup>198</sup>. A study has suggested that oligosaccharides may bind to rat NKR-P1A with high affinity, however the results could not be reproduced<sup>20, 21, 122, 123</sup>.

NKR-P1D, on the other hand, has been found to be expressed on approximately half of the NK cell population in C57BL/6 mice<sup>12</sup>. NKR-P1D expression increased in a progressive manner during NK cell development, independently of Ly49E and CD94/NKG2<sup>12</sup>. Notably, the study also demonstrated that NKR-P1D<sup>+</sup> NK cells express low levels of Ly49 receptors and high levels of CD94/NKG2 receptors relative to NKR-P1D<sup>-</sup> NK cells<sup>12</sup>. The activating receptors CD16, NKG2D, natural killer cell p46-related protein (Nkp46), NKR-P1C and NKR-P1F expression were shown to be independent of NKR-P1D expression<sup>12</sup>, and antibody cross-linking or Clr-b ligand interaction with NKR-P1D resulted in receptor down-regulation<sup>12</sup>. Interestingly, activated NKR-P1D<sup>-</sup> NK cells. The reduced cytotoxicity may be similar to NK cells lacking inhibitory Ly49 receptors, either because cells lacking inhibitory receptors are subjected to chronic low-level activation that induces self-tolerance<sup>190</sup>, or because the ligand-receptor interactions deliver signals that are required for function<sup>117</sup>.

Another study demonstrated that CD3ζ/NKR-P1D fusion receptors expressed on BWZ.36 reporter cells can detect ligands on *ex vivo* bone marrow and spleen cells, but not thymocytes<sup>99</sup>. Further analysis of hematopoetic cells identified macrophages and dendritic cells as the stimulators for the BWZ.CD3 ζ/NKR-P1D reporter cells<sup>99</sup>. Clr-b overexpression on tumour cells was found to inhibit

C57BL/6 NK cell activity, which was reversible by an NKR-P1D blocking mAb<sup>99</sup>. However, another study revealed that Clr-b expression on BWZ.4A6<sup>+</sup> cells was insufficient to inhibit lysis by NKR-P1D-expressing C57BL/6 NK cells, but significantly inhibited NKR-P1B-expressing Sw or CD-1 NK cells<sup>31</sup>. Due to the low affinity of NKR-P1D-Clr-b interaction<sup>99</sup>, physiological Clr-b levels expressed on normal lymphocytes appear to be insufficient in delivering signals *via* NKR-P1D receptors on mature NK cells<sup>12</sup>.

A study on YB2/0 rat plasmacytoma cells transfected with the NKR-P1F ligands Clr-g and Clr-x demonstrated that this pathway does not affect IFN-γ synthesis by NK cells<sup>12</sup>. Similarly, although anti-NKR-P1C mAb acted as a potent inducer of IFN-γ production, anti-NKR-P1A and anti-NKR-P1F mAbs failed to stimulate IFN-γ synthesis<sup>12</sup>. Interestingly, Clr-x ligand interaction with NKR-P1F resulted in receptor down-regulation, but not Clr-g<sup>12</sup>. It has been reported, however, that NKR-P1F is highly expressed in bone marrow-derived dendritic cells and facilitates T cell activation through interaction with Clr-g expressed on T cells<sup>229, 230</sup>.



An illustration demonstrating the molecular signalling of the classical immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation (ITAM) and inhibitory motifs (ITIM) upon ligand interaction. After recruitment of the FcR $\gamma$  adaptor molecule, the phosphorylated Y residue on ITAM initiates tyrosine kinase activity and downstream signalling cascades such as the Nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ), Nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) or Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways. In ITIM, phosphorylation by Src results in the phosphorylation and activation Src homology phosphatase-1 (SHP-1), which inhibits Spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk) to block cascade activation.

#### 1.8 NKR-P1B and Clr-b interaction

Recently, Carlyle and colleagues demonstrated that NKR-P1B and NKR-P1D interact with Clr-b<sup>31</sup>. Clr-b expression exhibits a broad spectrum including adult splenocytes, thymocytes and lymph node cells. Its expression pattern is also similar to that of MHC Class I molecules: high levels are observed in hematopoietic cells, low levels in CD4<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> thymocytes, and negligible during erythropoiesis and in terminally-differentiated erythrocytes<sup>31</sup>. Clr-b expression and function, however, were found to be independent of  $\beta_2m$  and MHC I expression<sup>31</sup>. Clr-b is also frequently downregulated in mouse tumour cell lines, as NKR-P1B tetramers were shown to bind endogenous Clr-b on cell lines, including MNK-1 pre-NK cells and NIH-3T3 fibroblasts, but not several tumour lines<sup>31</sup>. Tumour cell lines that expressed Clr-b exhibited dramatically reduced NK cell-mediated lysis<sup>31</sup>. SJL/Sw NK cells transduced with NKR-P1B were shown to decrease CD107a degranulation and TNF- $\alpha$  expression against Clr-b-expressing target cells<sup>234</sup>.

Although it is unknown whether there is bidirectional communication, the Clr-b cytoplasmic tail contains motifs for casein kinase 2 (CK2) phosphorylation receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2) binding (SPQE), (SxxE), TNF ubiquitinylation and endocytosis<sup>267</sup>. CK2 overexpression is common in tumour cell lines, and active CK2 is known to regulate the nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) pathway, caspase activation and Bcl-X levels<sup>1, 145, 208</sup>, leading to lymphoproliferation and accelerated lymphomagenesis<sup>207, 208</sup>. Phosphorylation of CK2 in certain receptors also results in endocytosis<sup>49, 176</sup>. TRAF2, on the other hand, is required for TNF- $\alpha$ -mediated activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)8/c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and NF-кB<sup>249</sup>. TRAF2 forms a complex with TRAF1 to interact with the inhibitor-of-apoptosis protein (IAP). functioning as a mediator of anti-apoptotic signals. The interaction of this protein with TNF receptor type 1-associated DEATH domain (TRADD), a TNF receptor adaptor protein, ensures the recruitment of IAPs for the direct inhibition of caspase activation. Thus, it is tempting to postulate that NKR-P1B-Clr-b
interaction functions as a cell survival pathway in Clr-b-expressing cells (Figure 3).

The *Clr* genes are closely linked and interspersed among the *Nkr-p1* genes in the NKC, which may ensure the co-inheritance of receptor and ligand genes and provide a mechanism for "missing self-recognition"<sup>34</sup>. Whereas the Ly49 genes are divergent between the C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice strains, the Nkrp1 and Clr families are conserved<sup>34</sup>. Interestingly, NKR-P1B expression is missing in certain mouse strains, such as C57BL/6<sup>34</sup>. Similarly, sequencing analysis revealed that Ly49h and Ly49d are absent in the BALB/c strain<sup>5</sup>, resulting in uncontrolled mouse cytomegalovirus replication, early host death<sup>8, 26</sup>, and decreased NK cell cvtotoxic efficiencv<sup>98</sup>. It has been suggested that the *Nkr-p1d* gene in these mice represent a divergent allele to the Nkr-p1b gene found in BALB/c and other mouse strains<sup>34</sup>. Protein sequence alignment revealed only three amino acid substitutions in the extracellular regions between the NK1.1<sup>+</sup> Sw/SJL and NK1.1<sup>-</sup> BALB/c mice, and only a single amino acid mutation (position 191) in the BALB/c NKR-P1B receptor was able to confer NK1.1 reactivity<sup>34</sup>. In contrast to the other conserved Nkr-p1 genes, the C57BL/6 and BALB/c Nkr-p1c alleles have diverged significantly<sup>34</sup>. It is possible that the variable prevalence of NKR-P1 receptors may account for the different susceptibilities of mouse strains to kidney injury.

The existence of NKR-P1 and Clr-like genes within the MHC region of chicken and quail genomes suggests that the MHC and NKC regions may share a common ancestral origin<sup>111, 213</sup>. Also, Clr-like genes were found in the rat cytomegalovirus genome, suggesting that some viruses may have evolved strategies to bypass NKR-P1 recognition during infection<sup>243</sup>. In humans, it is interesting to note that only the isoform NKR-P1A exists and interacts with lectinlike transcript-1 (LLT1), a ligand which shares significant homology with the Clr family<sup>2, 194</sup>. Similar to mouse NKR-P1B and Clr-b, NKR-P1A and LLT1 interaction inhibits NK cell function<sup>2</sup>. Notably, LLT1 was observed to stimulate IFN- γ production in human T cells but inhibited cytotoxicity and IFN-γ secretion in NK

23

cells<sup>2</sup>. Unlike murine NKR-P1 receptors, the human NKR-P1A receptor was found to lack the CxCP Lck-recruitment motif<sup>136, 199</sup>.



## Figure 3. NK cells express a plethora of receptors to regulate cytotoxicity

An illustration demonstrating multiple activating and inhibitory receptor interactions with TEC ligands to form an immunological synapse and cause a graded cytotoxic NK cell-mediated response.

# 1.9 Hypothesis

We hypothesize that Clr-b is up-regulated in TEC during tissue injury and this upregulation provides protection to kidney grafts against NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

# 1.10 Specific aims

- 1. To determine if Clr-b expression is up-regulated in TEC after cytokine treatment, hypoxia, ischemia and renal injury
- 2. To investigate the effect of NKR-P1B and Clr-b interaction on NK cellmediated TEC death
- 3. To investigate the effect of stimulated/deficient NKR-P1B and Clr-b interaction on ischemia and renal injury in mice

# Chapter 2

# 2 Materials and Methods

# 2.1 Animals

C57BL/6 (H-2<sup>b</sup>), BALB/c (H-2<sup>d</sup>), C3H (H-2<sup>k</sup>) and *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). All animals were maintained in the animal facility at Western University using approved protocols and procedures. Animal experiments were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council of Animal Care guidelines with protocols approved by the Animal Use Subcommittee of Western University.

# 2.2 Antibodies and reagents

Cells were characterized with the following fluorescent-conjugated antibodies: FITC anti-mouse CD26 (eBioscience, San Diego, CA), PE Conjugated Streptavidin (eBioscience), and a 4A6 monoclonal antibody that specifically recognizes CIr-b (kindly from JR Carlyle, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON). Mouse cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$  were purchased from PeproTech (Rocky Hill, NJ). Cell viability assays identifying necrotic and apoptotic cells employed propidium iodide (PI) and annexin V, respectively (eBioscience). Data were acquired and analyzed on a Cytomics FC500 flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Mississauga, ON).

Primary TEC were obtained from C57BL/6 or BALB/c mouse kidneys after digestion with 1 mg/mL of collagenase V (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 15 min and then sequentially sieved. All TEC were grown in complete K1 culture medium (DMEM:HamsF12, 50:50; Invitrogen-Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA), supplemented with 5% bovine calf serum, hormone mix (5  $\mu$ g/mL insulin, 1.25 ng/mL PGE1, 34 pg/mL triodothyronine, 5  $\mu$ g/mL transferrin, 1.73 ng/mL sodium selenite, and 18 ng/mL hydrocortisone), 100 U/mL penicillin (Invitrogen), 100  $\mu$ g/mL streptomycin (Invitrogen), and 25 ng/mL epidermal growth factor. Cells

were trypsinized before each passage. Proximal tubular phenotype of TEC was confirmed by staining with anti-CD26 antibody (eBioscience).

## 2.3 Primary kidney tubular epithelial cell isolation and culture

Primary kidney cell cultures were obtained from the cortex region of either C57BL/6 or BALB/c mouse kidneys after digestion with collagenase V at 1 mg/mL (Sigma) for 15 min in complete K1 media in a humidified incubator at 37 °C. The digested cells were then passed through a 40 µm cell strainer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and washed with 20 mL of PBS. The single cell suspension was then grown in complete K1 media in a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> vented flask (BD Biosciences) in a humidified incubator at 37 °C. Trypsin-EDTA at 0.125% was used for each passage cycle with prior washing using PBS without magnesium and calcium (Invitrogen).

### 2.4 Isolation of NK cells

NK cells were purified from C57BL/6 or BALB/c mouse spleens by gently passing the spleen through a 40  $\mu$ m cell strainer (BD Biosciences), washed with 10 mL of PBS and spun down at 500 × g for 5 min. The pellet was subsequently resuspended in 1 mL of ACK lysis buffer (Invitrogen) for 30 sec and washed with 10 mL of PBS. Subsequent isolation was performed as described in MACS cell separation kit (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA). Briefly, a single cell suspension was made in 490  $\mu$ L of MACS buffer (PBS, 1% FBS, 0.5% EDTA) and incubated with 10  $\mu$ L of magnetic beads conjugated with anti-CD3 (Miltenyi) for 15 min at 4 °C. Cells were then washed with 9.5 mL of MACS buffer and centrifuged for 5 min again. Washed cells were then resuspended in 500  $\mu$ L of MACS buffer and transferred into a MACS midsize column (Miltenyi) that was subjected to a magnetic field. The column was washed three times with 500  $\mu$ L of MACS buffer and the flow through was collected and spun down. Cells were subjected to a

second round of purification using anti-CD49b (DX5; Miltenyi). Purity of NK cells was confirmed by flow cytometry analysis and was found to be > 94% CD3<sup>-</sup> CD49b<sup>+</sup>.

## 2.5 Cytokine induction

TEC were challenged with 25 ng/mL of IFN- $\gamma$  (PeproTech) and 25 ng/mL of TNF- $\alpha$  (PeproTech) in K1 culture media without glucose for 0, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h. Cell death was confirmed with annexin V and propidium iodide staining and analyzed by flow cytometry, according to the manufacturer's protocol (BD Biosciences).

# 2.6 Hypoxia induction

Hypoxic culture conditions were produced by placing the cells in a mini-incubator perfused with 95%  $N_2$  saturated with water. Temperature was maintained on a heating pad at 32 °C. The cells were exposed to hypoxia for 20 min. Cells were cultured in deoxygenated K1 culture media without glucose for 0, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h. Cell death was confirmed with annexin V and propidium iodide staining.

## 2.7 siRNA transfection

TEC were transfected with 2 µg/mL of Clr-b siRNA oligonucleotides using 6 µg/mL of Lipofectamine (Invitrogen), and then cultured for an additional 96 h before use in NK:TEC co-cultures or analyzed by flow cytometry. Reduction in expression of the appropriate marker was then calculated using flow cytometry or RT-PCR. Clr-b siRNA oligonucleotides were purchased as a pool of 3 different duplexes from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). siRNAs included: 5'-CAG UAC CAG GAU CUA UUC Att -3' and 5'- UGA AUA GAU CCU GGU ACU Gtt -3'; 5'- GCU ACA CUG UAC UUU AUA Ctt -3' and 5'- GUA UAA AGU ACA

GUG UAG Ctt -3'; 5'- GGA CGA AAU AAC AGG CUA Att -3'; 5'- UUA GCC UGU UAU UUC GUC Ctt -3'.

## 2.8 NK cell killing assay

NK cells were purified by CD49b<sup>+</sup> selection on a MACS beads column (Miltenyi), then activated with IL-2 (1000 U/mL) in RPMI 1640, supplemented with 10% FCS, penicillin (100 U/mL), streptomycin (100 mg/mL), glutamine (2 mM), sodium pyruvate (1 mM), HEPES (10 mM), and b-mercaptoethanol (0.5 mM). Activated or naïve NK cells were used as effector cells in a killing assay. Cell death was confirmed with propidium iodide staining, according to the manufacturer's protocol (BD Biosciences). TEC were transfected with Clr-b siRNA (Santa Cruz) 4 days prior to the killing assay. TEC were labeled with 0.5 mM Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE; Invitrogen) for 8 min and washed three times with medium. The CFSE-labeled TEC were mixed with NK cells or cultured alone for 5 h. PI staining and flow cytometry were used to determine the percentage of TEC death by gating on CFSE<sup>+</sup> cells.

## 2.9 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction

Total RNA were extracted from kidneys with a spin column (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON). cDNA pools were synthesized with the First Strand Synthesis System (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA). Primers were designed using Oligo Perfect Designer, (Invitrogen-Life Technologies). Clr-b: 5'- CTC GGT TTG ACA ACC AGG AT -3' and 5'- GAT CCC GTT GTT GTT CAG GT -3'; NKR-P1A: 5'- CCT GCT CAC CAG TTC AGT GA -3' and 5'- CTT CTT GGT CTT GAA TGA GCA T - 3'; NKR-P1B: 5'- CTC CTG ACT GTG AAT CCC ATC CCC A -3' and 5'- GCC CCT CAG CTA CCA GGG CTT -3'; NKR-P1C: 5'- TCC CTT CTC ACC ACC AGT TA -3' and 5'- CAG TCT TGT GGG CAC TCT AAA -3'; NKR-P1D: 5'- GTT TGT CCC TGT TCA CGA GG -3' and 5'- TCT TGA ACA TCC GCG CAG AT -3';

NKR-P1E: 5'- GGA AAG GAG CCA CTT TGC TGC TCA -3' and 5'- TCC TTT TGG CAG ATC CAA CGT CC -3'; NKR-P1F: 5'- TGT CAC TGT TCA CAG TTC CC -3' and 5'- ATC TCG GGC ACT CTA GTA TG -3'; NKR-P1G: 5'- AGC TGT GCC CTC ATC TCA CAA ACA -3' and 5'- CAG GAG TCA GGA CAC AGG GTT TCA -3'; and  $\beta$ -actin: 5'- CCA GCC TTC CTT CCT GGG TA -3' and 5'- CTA GAA GCA TTT GCG GTG CA -3'. Real-time quantitative PCR were performed on standardized quantities of cDNA using the Brilliant SYBR Green QPCR Master Mix kit, and amplified DNA products were generated and detected using the Mx4000 system (Stratagene). Each PCR amplification condition was set up in triplicate.  $\beta$ -actin amplification was used as the endogenous control. The normalized  $\delta$  threshold cycle value and relative expression levels ( $2^{\Delta\Delta Ct}$ ) were calculated.

## 2.10 Histological analyses

Formalin-fixed kidney sections were stained with H&E, and injury were scored in a double-blinded fashion by a single pathologist at London Health Sciences Centre, using an arbitrary scoring system (0: no change; 1+: < 25% area change; 2+: 25–50% area change; 3+: 50–75% area change; 4+: > 75% area change). Criteria for kidney injury included tubular necrosis, immune cell infiltration, tubular casts, and glomerular necrosis. Kidney sections were embedded in OCT compound and snapped frozen in liquid nitrogen.

### 2.11 Kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury

Ischemia and reperfusion injuries were performed by a single microsurgeon at the Matthew Mailing Centre for Translational Transplant Studies. Ischemia was induced by clamping the left kidney for 45 min at 32 °C on a thermo-regulated pad in C57BL/6 or C3H mice, and 60 min at 33 °C in BALB/c mice. To assess function of the ischemic kidney, the clamps were released and the right kidney was subsequently removed. Kidneys were sampled at different time points after being flushed with cold PBS. Sham controls were treated with the same operative procedure as in the injury group but kidneys were not clamped. Serum was collected for creatinine detection by a Jaffe reaction method with an automated CX5 clinic analyzer (Beckman, Fullerton, CA).

#### 2.12 Kidney transplantation

Kidney transplants were performed by a single microsurgeon at the Matthew Mailing Centre for Translational Transplant Studies. Ten week old male BALB/c mice were bilaterally nephrectomized and transplanted with a single kidney from a male C57BL/6 mouse of similar weight. Both donor and recipient mice were anaesthetized with isoflurane. Donor kidney, ureter, bladder, renal artery and vein were recovered together. Vascular vessels of the donor kidney were anastomosed to the recipient's respective abdominal aorta and inferior vena cava below the native renal vessels of the recipient. Renal ischemia time was limited to 30-45 min. Donor and recipient bladders were attached dome-to-dome. Kidney graft survival was assessed daily based on the overall health of the animal. If the recipient mouse was found to be suffering, the mouse was sacrificed for blood and kidney graft retrieval and analysis. Mice were followed up to 60 days and were subsequently sacrificed.

#### 2.13 Statistical analyses

Experimental values were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data were compared using Student's T-Test (Statview, Nesbit, MS) for unpaired values and one-way ANOVA for multigroup differences. The *p* values < 0.05 were considered significant.

# Chapter 3

# 3 Results

# 3.1 Clr-b expression in BALB/c TEC increases upon proinflammatory cytokines TNF-α and IFN-γ treatment

Our previous work identified NK cells as important participants in renal IRI<sup>265</sup> and that TEC apoptosis can be induced by TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN-y, pro-inflammatory cytokines which can be secreted by NK cells<sup>68</sup>. As NK cells are regulated by multiple signalling interactions with target cells, we investigated the effect of tubular Clr-b expression upon stimulation by TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN-y. Real-time quantitative PCR data analysis of CIr-b in primary-cultured TEC from BALB/c (H- $2^{d}$ ) kidneys indicated that a combination of the cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ effectively upregulated Clr-b expression. At a dose of 25 ng/mL each, TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN-y significantly increased Clr-b mRNA transcription just 8 h after treatment. This upregulation continued to progress and peaked at 48 h. A decrease in Clr-b mRNA expression level was observed by 72 h (Figure 4A). At the surface protein level, flow cytometry analysis revealed a transient upregulation of Clr-b 24 h after induction by the cytokines (Figure 4B). The effect of these cytokines on tubular cell viability was confirmed by annexin V and propidium iodide (PI) staining, indicators of apoptosis and necrosis, respectively (Figure 4C). Put together, our data demonstrates that the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF-α and IFN-y induces cell death and Clr-b upregulation in BALB/c TEC.



В





# Figure 4. CIr-b ligand in primary-cultured BALB/c kidney TEC increases upon pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$ treatment in a time-dependent manner

**A)** Quantitative RT-PCR of BALB/c TEC CIr-b RNA expression after cytokine induction; n = 2 - 7; Statistical analysis was performed with ANOVA. \* p < 0.05 compared with untreated media control. **B)** Surface ligand CIr-b expression 0 h, 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h after cytokine induction. BALB/c TEC were cultured and treated as described in *Materials and Methods*. Time points are compared to null (gray) and untreated (solid line); n = 3. **C)** Cell death in BALB/c TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining 0 h, 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h after cytokine induction to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively; n = 1.

# 3.2 Clr-b expression in BALB/c TEC is not affected by hypoxia treatment

During IRI, cells are subjected to multiple factors that result in cellular and organ injury. One of the factors includes hypoxia, where cells are subjected to oxygen deprivation until the blood supply can re-nourish the organ. We therefore decided to test whether Clr-b regulation is affected under hypoxic conditions. Albeit not as effective as cytokine stimulation, we found that hypoxic stress also increased Clr-b mRNA expression in BALB/c TEC at the 24 h mark (data not shown). At the cell surface, however, we were unable to convincingly detect a change in Clr-b expression by flow cytometry (Figure 5A). Furthermore, cell viability of BALB/c TEC was not affected by hypoxic stress (Figure 5B). Based on our *in vitro* data, oxygen deprivation is not a factor associated with Clr-b regulation in BALB/c TEC.





Α





# Figure 5. Clr-b ligand in primary-cultured BALB/c kidney TEC is not affected by hypoxia treatment

**A)** Surface ligand Clr-b expression 24 h, 48 h, and 72 h after being induced by hypoxia for 20 min. BALB/c TEC were cultured and treated as described in *Materials and Methods*. Time points are compared to null (gray) and untreated (solid line); n = 4. **B)** Cell death in BALB/c TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining 24 h, 48 h and 72 h after hypoxia to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively; n = 3.

# 3.3 Clr-b expression in C57BL/6 TEC increases upon proinflammatory cytokines TNF-α and IFN-γ treatment

A recent study by Carlyle and colleagues has revealed that NKR-P1B expression is missing in the C57BL/6 mouse strain<sup>34</sup>. From our studies, we know that C57BL/6 mice are more susceptible to renal IRI than BALB/c mice; therefore we opted to compare these two mouse strains. Similar to BALB/c TEC, real-time PCR quantification of C57BL/6 (H-2<sup>b</sup>) TEC after TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  also appeared to increase Clr-b expression (Figure 6A). Whereas BALB/c TEC Clr-b mRNA levels peaked at 48 h, C57BL/6 TEC peaked at 24 h. In C57BL/6 TEC, a regression in Clr-b mRNA level was observed by 48 h. However, this increase was not significant upon further statistical analysis. The relative increase of Clr-b in C57BL/6 was also much lower than BALB/c TEC. Although data analysis suggested that this increase in C57BL/6 TEC was not statistically significant at the mRNA level, FACS analysis demonstrated a Clr-b expression pattern similar to BALB/c TEC. In C57BL/6 TEC, Clr-b surface protein upregulation was transiently observed 24 h after cytokine induction (Figure 6B). The effect of these cytokines on tubular cell viability was confirmed by annexin V and PI staining (Figure 6C). In addition, various TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  doses were tested to determine whether Clr-b is regulated in a dose-dependent manner. At doses between 15 - 40 ng/mL each, we could not detect any noticeable differences in Clr-b levels (Figure 6D). Thus, similarly with BALB/c TEC, our data demonstrates that Clr-b is upregulated upon stimulation by the cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN-y in C57BL/6 TEC at the surface protein level.



α-Clr-b



10

10<sup>2</sup>

10<sup>1</sup>

10<sup>0</sup>

Annexin V

₫



Annexin V



# Figure 6. Primary-cultured C57BL/6 kidney TEC Clr-b level increases upon pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$ treatment in a time-dependent manner

**A)** Quantitative RT-PCR of C57BL/6 TEC CIr-b RNA expression after cytokine induction; n = 2 - 5. Statistical analysis was performed with ANOVA. **B)** Surface ligand CIr-b expression 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h after TNF-α (25 ng/mL) and IFN- $\gamma$  (25 ng/mL) treatment. Time points are compared to null (gray) and untreated (solid line); n = 1 - 3. **C)** Cell death in C57BL/6 TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining 24 h, 48 h and 96 h after cytokine treatment to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively; n = 1 - 3. **D)** Surface ligand CIr-b expression 24 h after TNF-α and IFN- $\gamma$  treatment, each at doses of 15, 20, 25, 30, 35, and 40 ng/mL. C57BL/6 TEC were cultured and treated as described in *Materials and Methods*. Dosages are compared to null (gray); n = 1.

# 3.4 Clr-b expression in C57BL/6 TEC increases with hypoxic stress

Similarly, we also tested the effect of hypoxia on C57BL/6 primary-cultured TEC. FACS analysis of these tubular cells demonstrated a slight increase in Clr-b surface protein levels 72 and 96 hours after *in vitro* hypoxic stress (Figure 7A). Tubular cell viability was measured by annexin V and PI staining, demonstrating cell death upon oxygen deprivation (Figure 7B). It is possible that the treatments had different capabilities and effectiveness to induce cell injury in different strains of mice, as hypoxic stress was insufficient in BALB/c TEC following the same conditions (Figure 5B).







# Figure 7. Primary-cultured C57BL/6 kidney TEC Clr-b level increases with hypoxic stress in a time-dependent manner

**A)** Surface ligand Clr-b expression 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h after being induced by hypoxia for 20 min. C57BL/6 TEC were cultured and treated as described in *Materials and Methods*. Time points are compared to null (gray) and 0 h after hypoxia treatment (solid line); n = 1 - 3. **B)** Cell death in C57BL/6 TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h after hypoxia to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively; n = 3.

#### 3.5 NKR-P1 expression vary between mouse strains

The Ly49 receptors and their ligand MHC class I molecules are important for the prevention of NK cell-mediated self-destruction, yet these molecules are constitutively expressed and contain a high degree of polymorphism<sup>33</sup>. The intricate signalling system of NK cells also involve various NKR-P1 receptor subtypes, acting as either stimulatory or inhibitory mediators. NKR-P1A, NKR-P1C and NKR-P1F receptors have been postulated to exert stimulatory effects on NK cells, whereas NKR-P1B and NKR-P1D are inhibitory<sup>9, 32, 99, 110, 131, 181</sup>. While BALB/c mice express both the stimulatory receptors and the inhibitory NKR-P1B, C57BL/6 mice lack NKR-P1B signalling<sup>34</sup>. Here, we tested splenic naive NK cells and IL-2-activated NK cells from C57BL/6 and BALB/c for NKR-P1 expression. Real-time PCR analysis demonstrated that the stimulatory NKR-P1A expression is significantly higher in C57BL/6 than BALB/c NK cells (Figure 8). As the C57BL/6 genome does not contain the NKR-P1B subtype<sup>34</sup>, we did not detect it in C57BL/6 NK cells. In BALB/c NK cells, NKR-P1B expression did not change despite IL-2 activation (Figure 8). Although more experiments need to be repeated for statistical significance, there appears to be variability in the expression of these NKR-P1 receptors between mouse strains. Furthermore, we quantified every known Clr ligand in C57BL/6 and BALB/c TEC, as they are interspersed between the Nkr-p1 genes and may serve to stimulate the NKR-P1 receptors<sup>34</sup>. Based on the mRNA profile, C57BL/6 primary-cultured TEC appear to express higher levels of the Clr subtypes than BALB/c (Figure 9). As BALB/c NKR-P1B did not change upon IL-2 activation, the Clr-b ligand on the TEC side may be more important in regulating this pathway.



Figure 8. NKR-P1 receptors expression profile in C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice.

Quantitative RT-PCR of *Nkr-p1* receptor subtypes in C57BL/6 and BALB/c NK cells; n = 1 - 8. NK cells were isolated and cultured as described in *Materials and Methods*. Statistical analysis was performed with ANOVA. \* p < 0.05 compared with C57BL/6 naïve NK cells.



# Figure 9. Clr ligands mRNA expression is higher in primary-cultured TEC from C57BL/6 mice than BALB/c mice

Quantitative RT-PCR *Clr* ligand subtypes in BALB/c and C57BL/6 TEC. Total RNA was extracted (Qiagen) and cDNA pools were synthesized (Stratagene). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed using the Brilliant SYBR Green QPCR Master Mix kits and the Mx3005P system (Stratagene).  $\beta$ -actin amplification was used as the endogenous control. The normalized  $\delta$  threshold cycle value was calculated according to the manufacturer's protocol; *n* = 1.

# 3.6 TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$ did not affect TEC sensitivity to NK cellmediated cytotoxicity

In this study, we demonstrated that the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  can upregulate CIr-b in tubular cells (Figures 4 and 6). We decided to test whether cytokine-induced CIr-b expression can overcome other signalling mechanisms and inhibit NK cell activity. While there was less TEC death in the cytokine-treated group, as measured by PI staining, it was not statistically significant (Figure 10). Cytokine-dependent CIr-b up-regulation, therefore, was not sufficient to overcome other stimulatory mechanisms activated upon TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation at a 10:1 NK cell-TEC ratio.



# Figure 10. Clr-b up-regulation by the cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ and IFN- $\gamma$ did not affect NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in BALB/c kidney TEC

**A)** Surface ligand Clr-b expression 24 h after 25 ng/mL of TNF-α and IFN-γ cytokine induction. BALB/c TEC were cultured and treated as described in *Materials and Methods*. Treatment is compared to null (gray) and untreated (solid line); n = 3. **B)** Percentage of TEC death from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity at 10:1 effector-target ratio, with or without cytokine induction. CFSE-stained cells were mixed with IL-2-activated NK cells for 5 h. PI staining and FACs analysis were used to determine the percentage of TEC death by gating on CFSE<sup>+</sup> cells. Percentages represent the difference between TEC death before and after incubation with NK cells; n = 3. Statistical analysis was performed with Student's T-Test.

# 3.7 Antibody CIr-b blockade did not affect NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in TEC

Furthermore, as it has been previously demonstrated that the 4A6 monoclonal anti-Clr-b antibody has ligand blocking capabilities<sup>31</sup>, we tested whether the antibody can block the interaction between NKR-P1 and Clr-b, or Clr-b function in TEC. Anti-Clr-b blockade by the antibody at 2.5  $\mu$ g/mL did not have a significant effect on TEC death at a 10:1 effector – target ratio, as measured by PI staining (Figure 11).


# Figure 11. Clr-b blockade by monoclonal antibody did not affect NK cell cytotoxicity in BALB/c kidney TEC

Percentage of TEC death from NK cytotoxicity at 10:1 effector-target ratio. CFSE-stained cells were incubated with or without anti-Clr-b mAb (2.5  $\mu$ g/mL) for 45 min and mixed with IL-2-activated NK cells for 5 h. PI staining and FACS analysis were used to determine the percentage of necrotic TEC by gating on CFSE<sup>+</sup> cells. Percentages represent the difference between TEC death before and after incubation with NK cells; *n* = 3. Statistical analysis was performed with Student's T-Test.

#### 3.8 Clr-b knockdown by siRNA in TEC increased NK cellmediated death

As we had previously used RNAi successfully as a form of therapy to ameliorate renal IRI<sup>69</sup>, we decided to knock down *Clr-b* using siRNA technology to decipher its functional significance in tubular cells. TEC were extracted and cultured from BALB/c mice and treated with Clr-b siRNA to prevent Clr-b and NKR-P1B interaction, mimicking C57BL/6's lack of inhibition by this pathway and higher susceptibility to renal IRI. Characterization with  $\alpha$ -CD26 confirmed that TEC phenotype was retained after treatment with either scrambled or Clr-b siRNA (Figure 12A). Transfection efficiency in BALB/c TEC was also determined with fluorescent-labelled GAPDH siRNA (Figure 12B). Upon treatment of siRNA, Clr-b mRNA was knocked down most efficiently at 24 and 48 h after transfection (Figure 12C), and surface protein down-regulation was observed 96 h after treatment (Figure 12E). Upon co-culture with IL-2-activated NK cells, BALB/c TEC treated with Clr-b siRNA displayed an increase in tubular death relative to scrambled siRNA, as indicated by PI staining (Figure 12F). Killing assays at various LAK: TEC ratios suggest that this inhibitory mechanism can suppress only up to a certain point, as at 10:1 ratio there were no significant differences between the scrambled and Clr-b siRNA groups (Figure 12G). In conclusion, these data support the notion that Clr-b acts as an inhibitory mechanism for NK cells in kidney tubular cells, since knocking Clr-b down dampened the ligandreceptor interaction and increased NK cell-mediated tubular cell death.



Time point after CIr-b siRNA transfection (h)







### Figure 12. Clr-b knockdown by siRNA transfection in BALB/c primarycultured TEC increases NK cell cytotoxicity

A) Cell characterization by CD26, a marker for TEC, after treatment with either scrambled or Clr-b siRNA. BALB/c kidney TEC were extracted and treated as described in *Materials and Methods*; n = 1. **B)** Transfection efficiency in BALB/c TEC by fluorescent-labelled GADPH siRNA; n = 2. C) Quantitative RT-PCR of BALB/c TEC Clr-b RNA expression after Clr-b siRNA transfection; n = 2 - 14. D) Clr-b surface protein detection after scrambled siRNA transfection. Time points are compared to null (shaded); n = 1. E) Surface protein knockdown was observed 96 hours after Clr-b siRNA transfection. Time points are compared to null (shaded); n = 2. F) TEC viability after the addition of IL-2-activated NK cells. Cytotoxicity assays were conducted as described in Materials and Methods. CFSE-stained cells were mixed with IL-2-activated NK cells for 5 h. The cells were used for PI staining to detect necrotic death; n = 11. G) Percentage of TEC death from NK activity at various effector:target ratios. CFSE-stained cells were mixed with IL-2-activated NK cells for 5 h. PI staining and FACS analysis were used to determine the percentage of TEC death by gating on CFSE-labelled tubular cells; n = 5 - 8. Statistical analysis was performed with ANOVA. \*  $p < 10^{-1}$ 0.05 and \*\*\* p < 0.01 compared with its scrambled siRNA-treated counterpart.

#### 3.9 Clr-b in BALB/c kidneys increases in renal IRI

Ischemia-reperfusion injury in transplantation is an unavoidable phenomenon. Prior to transplantation, the graft is subjected to oxygen deprivation. After transplantation, there is a rush of blood supply, including infiltrating cells such as B cells, T cells, NK cells, macrophages and neutrophils, leading to renal failure. We examined whether Clr-b expression is affected by renal IRI in our animal model. As, under similar conditions, BALB/c mice are particularly resistant against IRI than C57BL/6 mice, we subjected these mice to a more severe condition (60 min at 33°C) than the IRI protocol for C57BL/6 (45 min at 32°C). Surface protein analysis demonstrated that Clr-b surface expression in BALB/c kidneys progressively increased, peaked at 48 hours, and persisted after IRI (Figure 13B). Among the kidney cells stained positive for CD26, a TEC marker, 51.3% were also positive for Clr-b in naïve mice. This percentage increased to 55.2% and 63.0% 24 h and 48 h after IRI, respectively (Figure 13C). In summary, our data concludes that BALB/c kidney Clr-b expression increases as a response to renal injury.





Α

# Figure 13. BALB/c kidney Clr-b expression increases with renal IRI in a time-dependent manner

**A)** Quantitative RT-PCR of BALB/c mice kidney CIr-b RNA expression 0 h, 24 h, 48 h and 96 h after renal IRI. Total RNA was extracted (Qiagen) and cDNA pools were synthesized (Stratagene). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed using the Brilliant SYBR Green QPCR Master Mix kits and the Mx3005P system (Stratagene). β-actin amplification was used as the endogenous control. The normalized  $\overline{o}$  threshold cycle value was calculated according to the manufacturer's protocol; n = 1 - 4. Statistical analysis was performed with ANOVA. \* p < 0.05 compared with naïve control. **B)** Surface ligand Clr-b expression 0 h, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after renal IRI. BALB/c kidney cells were extracted as described in *Materials and Methods* and collected for FACS analysis after α-Clr-b staining. Time points are compared to null (gray) and sham (solid line); n = 1 - 2. **C)** Clr-b expression in CD26<sup>+</sup> TEC. BALB/c kidney cells were collected from naïve, 24 h and 48 h after IRI and stained with α-Clr-b and α-CD26 for FACS analysis. R2 quadrant represents cells positive for both Clr-b and CD26; n = 1.

#### 3.10 C57BL/6 and C3H kidney Clr-b increases in renal IRI

Similarly, we tested whether Clr-b expression is affected by renal IRI in other mouse strains. In our IRI injury model, real-time PCR analysis demonstrated that Clr-b mRNA expression in C57BL/6 mice increased within the first few hours after IRI, but began to return to basal levels afterwards (Figure 14A). FACS data also demonstrated that Clr-b surface expression increased 24 hours after IRI, but regressed to physiological levels by day 4 (Figure 14B). Among the kidney cells stained positive for CD26, 61.4% were also positive for Clr-b in naïve mice. This percentage increased to 78.0% and 82.2% 0 h and 8 h after IRI, respectively. Clr-b expression in CD26<sup>+</sup> TEC began to regress afterwards, as 62.3% were positive at 24 h, 71.3% at 48 h, and 49.4% at 96 h after IRI (Figure 15C). FACS analysis of C3H (H-2<sup>k</sup>) mice also indicated an increase in kidney Clr-b surface expression within 24 hours post-IRI (Figure 14D). Serum creatinine levels were analyzed to measure C3H renal dysfunction (Figure 14E). In summary, our data shows that Clr-b expression in C57BL/6 and C3H kidneys and, specifically, TEC increases after renal injury.



α-Clr-b





С

D





## Figure 14. C57BL/6 and C3H kidney Clr-b expression increases with renal IRI in a time-dependent manner

A) Quantitative RT-PCR of C57BL/6 mice kidney Clr-b RNA expression in sham, 0 h, 1 h, 2 h, 4 h, and 8 h after renal IRI; n = 4 - 6. Statistical analysis was performed with ANOVA. \*\*\* p < 0.01 and \* p < 0.05 compared with sham. B) Surface ligand Clr-b expression 0 h, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after IRI. TEC were purified from C57BL/6 mice as described in *Materials and Methods* and collected for FACS analysis with  $\alpha$ -Clr-b staining. Time points are compared to null (gray) and naïve (solid line); n = 1 - 2. C) Clr-b expression in CD26<sup>+</sup> TEC. C57BL/6 kidney cells were collected from naïve, 0 h, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h and 96 h after IRI and stained with  $\alpha$ -Clr-b and  $\alpha$ -CD26 for FACS analysis. O2 quadrant represents cells positive for both Clr-b and CD26; n = 1 - 2. D) Surface ligand Clr-b expression 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after IRI. TEC were purified from C3H mice as described in Materials and Methods and collected for FACS analysis with CIrb staining. Time points are compared to null (gray) and sham (solid line); n = 1. E) Serum creatinine levels of sham, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after IRI. C3H kidney TEC were extracted as described in *Materials and Methods*. The cells were used for annexin V and PI staining to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively; n = 1.

#### 3.11 BALB/c mice are more resistant to renal IRI than C57BL/6

To confirm kidney injury, serum creatinine levels (Figure 15A) and H & E staining (Figure 15B) were analyzed to measure renal dysfunction, annexin V staining to measure cell apoptosis, and PI staining for cell necrosis in BALB/c mice following IRI (Figure 15C). H & E staining demonstrated more tubular and glomerular necrosis after renal IRI. Serum creatinine at 37 °C averaged 173 ( $\pm$  43.84) µmol/L at 24 hours and died within 2 days (n = 2). When the IRI temperature and clamping duration were decreased to 33 °C and 45 min., serum creatinine level measured 30 µmol/L at 24 hours and 12 µmol/L at 48 hours (n = 1). Thus, the optimal conditions for BALB/c mice appear to be at 33 °C for 60 min. Similarly, serum creatinine levels (Figure 15D) and H & E staining (Figure 15E) were analyzed to measure renal dysfunction, annexin V staining to measure cell apoptosis, and PI staining for cell necrosis (Figure 15F) in C57BL/6 mice at 32 °C for 45 min. Here, we demonstrate that BALB/c mice are more resistant to renal IRI than C57BL/6 mice.



В



BALB/c Naïve

BALB/c 24 h Post-IRI

С





Ε



C57BL/6 Naïve

C57BL/6 24 h Post-IRI



Annexin V

# Figure 15. Ischemia-reperfusion injury model is optimal at 33 °C in BALB/c mice

**A)** BALB/c mice serum creatinine extracted as described in *Materials and Methods*; n = 1 - 12. **B)** BALB/c kidney sections were taken from either naïve (left) or 24 hours post-IRI (right) and were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Pictures were taken in the medulla region of the kidney at 100x magnification. **C)** Cell death in BALB/c TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining of sham, 0 h, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after IRI to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively. BALB/c kidney TEC were extracted as described in *Materials and Methods*; n = 1 - 2. **D)** C57BL/6 mice serum creatinine; n = 1 - 2. **E)** C57BL/6 kidney sections were taken from either naïve (left) or 24 hours post-IRI (right) and were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Pictures were taken in the medulla region of the kidney at 100x magnification. **F)** Cell death in C57BL/6 TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining of sham, 0 h, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after IRI to detect apoptotic S7BL/6 TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining of sham, 0 h, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after IRI to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively. C57BL/6 TEC, as measured by annexin V and PI staining of sham, 0 h, 8 h, 24 h, 48 h, and 96 h after IRI to detect apoptotic and necrotic death, respectively. C57BL/6 kidney TEC were extracted as described in *Materials and Methods*; n = 1 - 2.

#### 3.12 Clr-b decreases in C57BL/6 to F1 kidney transplants

As ischemia-reperfusion injury is an unavoidable phenomenon during organ transplantation, we characterized Clr-b expression in kidney grafts to determine whether this signalling mechanism can play a role in transplants. A parent to F1 transplant model in which T cell tolerance is present was utilized for these studies. Real-time PCR data analysis of Clr-b in C57BL/6 to (C57BL/6 × BALB/c)F1 kidneys indicated that there was a reduction in Clr-b expression 60 days post-transplant (Figure 16). As Clr-b acts to protect the kidney against NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity, ligand down-regulation in these grafts may partly compromise its ability to defend against NK cell-mediated tubular death. Our data demonstrate for the first time a critical role for NK cells in mediating chronic kidney injury in transplantation, independent of T and B cells (submitted for publication).



#### Figure 16. Clr-b ligand in kidney decreases in C57BL/6 to F1 transplants

Quantitative RT-PCR of CIr-b RNA expression in transplanted kidneys. Kidney transplantations were performed as described in Materials and Methods; n = 4; \* p < 0.05 compared with untransplanted naïve C57BL/6 kidney.

### Chapter 4

### 4 Discussion

#### 4.1 Summary of this study

In this study, we demonstrated at the mRNA and surface levels that Clr-b can be upregulated by TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  in tubular epithelial cells from the BALB/c and C57BL/6 mouse strains (Figures 4 and 6). Clr-b up-regulation in BALB/c, C57BL/6 and C3H kidneys was also observed in our in vivo IRI model (Figures 14 and 15). Although many of the ligands' functions have not yet been discovered, mRNA expression of the *Clr* subtypes appears to be notably higher in C57BL/6 mice than BALB/c mice (Figure 9). More experiments, however, need to be conducted to determine whether *Clr* expression is strain-dependent. Differences between mouse strains were also observed in the expression profile of the *Nkr-p1* receptors (Figure 8). In support of published literature<sup>34</sup>, we detected Nkr-p1b in BALB/c but not C57BL/6 NK cells. We also did not detect Nkr-p1b up-regulation upon IL-2 stimulation by NK cells (Figure 8). Using siRNA technology, we found that knocking down Clr-b on TEC significantly increased NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity (Figure 12). Furthermore, Clr-b in kidneys regressed in C57BL/6 to F1 transplants (Figure 16), demonstrating a possible compromised mechanism and reduction in TEC's ability to defend against NK cell-mediated tubular death. Manipulating the NKR-P1B-Clr-b pathway in the clinical setting may prevent NK cell-mediated TEC death in both acute and chronic allograft injury.

### 4.2 Regulation of NK cell ligand Clr-b in TEC and the kidney

In recent studies, we have found that NK cells can kill syngeneic TEC *in vitro*<sup>265</sup>. NK cells quickly infiltrate into the kidney after ischemia and reperfusion. NK cell depletion in wild type C57BL/6 mice was protective while adoptive transfer of NK cells worsened injury in NK, T and B cell null Rag2<sup>-/-</sup>γc<sup>-/-</sup> mice with IRI. Our

results demonstrated for the first time that NK cells can directly kill TEC and that NK cells contribute substantially to kidney IRI<sup>265</sup>. Although reduced, a significant amount of NK cells still remains in the kidney after IRI over a long period of time. As a measure to prevent prolonged NK cell-mediated injury, the kidney may have developed a mechanism to resist against NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity after IRI and transplantation.

As previously mentioned, NK cell function is regulated by their receptors and ligand interactions. The Ly49 receptors and their ligand MHC class I molecules are important for the prevention of NK cell-mediated self-destruction. However, these molecules are constitutively expressed on TEC and have a high degree of polymorphism<sup>33</sup>. Other molecules, therefore, should be regulated after kidney IRI to increase the resistance capability of TEC towards NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. It is known that the Clr-b molecule delivers inhibitory signals to its receptor NKR-P1B on NK cells<sup>31</sup>. Similar to MHC class I molecules, Clr-b is highly expressed on hematopoietic cells, excluding erythrocytes<sup>31</sup>. Tumour cell lines in mice often demonstrate Clr-b downregulation<sup>31</sup>, indicating a potential role for MHC class I-independent "missing self-recognition"<sup>31</sup>. A recent study has found Clr-b to be down-regulated after viral infections such as vaccine virus and ectromelia virus<sup>255</sup>. Rat cytomegalovirus infection also down-regulated host Clr-b expression while concurrently expressed its own ligand, rat cytomegalovirus Ctype lectin-like (RCTL)<sup>242</sup>. RCTL was demonstrated to interact with NKR-P1B and protect infected cells from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity<sup>242</sup>. Genotoxic and cellular stress induced by chemotherapeutic agents or irradiation were other mechanisms demonstrated to downregulate Clr-b and enhanced cytotoxicity mediated by NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> NK cells<sup>74</sup>.

In this study, we found that CIr-b expression is up-regulated in the kidney after IRI based on real-time quantitative PCR and FACS analysis (Figures 13 and 14). Similarly, expressions of CIr-b mRNA and protein were significantly enhanced in primary-cultured TEC after treatment with pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , well-known to be factors involved in inflammation and renal IRI<sup>68</sup> (Figures

4 and 6). The primary role of TNF- $\alpha$  is to regulate immune cells and is involved in systemic inflammation. Among other cells, TNF- $\alpha$  is predominantly released by macrophages and T cells after infection<sup>224</sup>, while resident dendritic cells appear to be the predominant source in the early-stages of renal IRI<sup>62</sup>. TNF- $\alpha$  may interact with either TNFR1 or TNFR2; TNFR1 is broadly expressed and can be activated by both membrane-bound and soluble TNF homotrimers, while TNFR2 is limited to immune cells and respond to the membrane-bound form<sup>224</sup>. Upon receptor-ligand interaction, TNF- $\alpha$  may activate the MAPK pathways to mediate cell differentiation, proliferation, and pro-apoptotic events<sup>224</sup>. TNF- $\alpha$  may also activate the NF-KB pathway, leading to transcription of proteins involved in cell survival, proliferation, inflammation, and anti-apoptosis<sup>224</sup>. Among the genes mediated by NF- $\kappa$ B, it is possible that Clr-b is one of the factors upregulated to promote self-survival. IFN-y, on the other hand, is predominantly produced by NK and T cells and can interact with heterodimer IFN-y receptor 1 (IFNGR1) and receptor 2 (IFNGR2) to activate the janus kinase (JAK)/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway<sup>105</sup>. IFN-y not only promotes cellular and humoral immunity, such as NK, T and B cell activation, but also stimulates MHC class I and II expression on normal cells<sup>204</sup>. While Clr-b initiates an MHCindependent pathway, it may also be up-regulated during the process of inflammation to prevent NK cell-mediated death of healthy cells.

Natural killer cells are the earliest defense against tumours and viral infections. As one of the mechanisms to counter foreign intruders, NK cells secrete the proinflammatory cytokine TNF- $\alpha$ . TNF- $\alpha$  is an important regulator of both adaptive and innate immune responses by promoting inflammation and has been associated with malignancy<sup>152</sup>. Both circulating and urinary TNF- $\alpha$  levels have been found to be up-regulated in inflammatory chronic kidney diseases such as diabetic nephropathy<sup>170, 257</sup>. In the early stages of many kidney diseases, variations of urinary fluid flow induces shear stress, which was demonstrated to increase mononuclear chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), TNF- $\alpha$ , vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), and adhesion of monocytes in human endothelial cells. Interestingly, when exposed to short-term fluid shear stress, TNF- $\alpha$  mainly came from endothelial production. However, long-term exposure to stress induced the release of TNF- $\alpha$  directly from tubular cells<sup>165</sup>, demonstrating interactive paracrine signalling between these cells. A recent study also showed that TNF- $\alpha$  can play a crucial role in nephritis by inducing MCP-1, and cell surface adhesion molecules, intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and VCAM-1 expression via the MAPK signaling pathway and promote macrophage and lymphocyte infiltration<sup>93</sup>.

The TNF- $\alpha$  converting enzyme (TACE) is a metalloproteinase responsible for cleaving TNF- $\alpha$  into a 26 kDa membrane form and a 17 kDa soluble peptide, and also membrane shedding of TNFR1 and TNFR2<sup>248, 250</sup>. In acute rejecting kidneys, TACE was demonstrated to be upregulated mainly in TEC, where it co-localizes with TNFR2 and leads to TNFR2 release<sup>250</sup>. TACE suppression, such as by TNF- $\alpha$  protease inhibitor, can block TNFR2 release and suppress the pro-inflammatory effect of TNF- $\alpha$  in acute renal injury<sup>250</sup>. In addition, TNF- $\alpha$ -induced activation of the extracellular-signal-regulated kinase (ERK)/guanine nucleotide exchange factor H1 (GEF-H1)/Ras homolog gene family member A (RhoA) signalling pathway in tubular cells was demonstrated to be mediated through TACE-dependent epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) activation<sup>107</sup>. Such a mechanism could act as both an inflammatory and proliferative stimuli and thus, TNF- $\alpha$  may play an important role in the regulation of not only cell death, but also wound healing and fibrogenesis in TEC during chronic injury.

Interferons are another class of cytokines commonly released by cells in response to pathogens, and named after their ability to "interfere" with viral replication. Interferons activate immune cells such as NK cells and macrophages, increase recognition of infection or tumour cells by upregulating antigen presentation to lymphocytes, and increase the ability of cells to resist against infections<sup>204</sup>. In a study, mice deficient of type I interferons, which includes IFN- $\gamma$ , showed significantly reduced necrosis of tubules in the outer medulla, loss of the brush border, cast formation and tubular dilatation<sup>75</sup>. Type 1 interferons were also shown to increase neutrophil and macrophage infiltration in the outer medulla,

and promote the expression of pro-inflammatory TNF-α, IL-1, IL-6 and CXCL-2<sup>75</sup>. Interferons are important chemical mediators in kidney injury and inflammation, and are one of the cytokines secreted by NK cells to induce in cell death.

In our study, we demonstrate that the inhibitory ligand Clr-b is upregulated in response to the cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN-y in primary-cultured TEC (Figures 4 and 6). While at the mRNA level, *clr-b* expression in BALB/c TEC increased quickly after cytokine induction and peaked at 48 h, Clr-b was found to be upregulated on the tubular cell surface only at the 24 h time-point. Similarly, in C57BL/6 TEC, mRNA levels were relatively high at the 48 h time point in comparison to basal level, yet Clr-b upregulation was again only detected at the 24 h time point on the surface of primary-cultured TEC. It appears that the early onset of gene upregulation may temporarily induce Clr-b expression, but other post-transcriptional or -translational factors may be involved to inhibit further induction, as CIr-b surface expression returned to normal physiological levels by 48 h. In fact, these factors may be upregulated at a later onset than Clr-b, as not only did the ligand revert back to basal levels, but Clr-b was observed to be downregulated 48 h and 72 h in BALB/c and C57BL/6 TEC, respectively. Similarly in MULT-1 regulation, protein expression is post-translationally controlled by cytoplasmic lysine residues associated with polyubiquitination of the protein<sup>171</sup>. Another plausible explanation may be that protein shuffling within cells resulted in the decrease in Clr-b detection. Nonetheless, both these modification factors and Clr-b appear to be transiently regulated by TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , as surface Clr-b protein was detected to match basal levels by 96 h. While these pro-inflammatory cytokines are known to induce necrosis and apoptosis, we demonstrate here for the first time that they upregulate the inhibitory Clr-b, a ligand that may prevent NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

Since renal IRI also involves oxygen deprivation, we subjected these primarycultured TEC to hypoxic conditions. In BALB/c TEC, we did not detect any significant changes of Clr-b expression on the cellular surface (Figure 5A). Conversely, in C57BL/6 TEC, we detected a positive shift in Clr-b on the tubular cell (Figure 7A). A plausible explanation is that BALB/c TEC are more adaptable to hypoxia or the hypoxia time was not sufficient, as there were no indications of cell death with annexin V and propodium iodide staining (Figure 5B), whereas there were clear apoptotic and necrotic cell populations in C57BL/6 TEC (Figure 7B). A more severe condition may be required for BALB/c TEC to match the amount of hypoxic injury as the C57BL/6 mouse strain.

As suspected, BALB/c mice were resistant against renal IRI when compared to the C57BL/6 mouse strain, since there were no indications of kidney injury under our IRI protocol. We therefore subjected these mice to a more severe condition than that of C57BL/6 mice. Twenty-four hours after surgery, there were marked upregulation of CIr-b on the cellular surfaces in kidneys, which continued even after 96 h in BALB/c mice (Figure 14B). Subsequently, in C57BL/6 mice, we once again observed ligand upregulation at 24 h and regression to physiological levels afterwards, similar to our *in vitro* studies (Figure 15B). However, it should be noted that these strains underwent different IRI conditions, thus making it difficult to interpret the differences between these two mouse strains.

Based on these data, we conclude that the inhibitory Clr-b ligand is up-regulated on tubular cells and the kidney as a consequence of renal IRI. NK cells are observed in kidney post-transplant patients long-term after surgery<sup>47</sup>. Thus, Clr-b may act as an inhibitor against NK cells to protect kidney grafts from the immune system. A balance between stimulatory and inhibitory signals on both tubular and NK cells may dictate the amount of cytotoxicity caused by these infiltrating immune cells, where a minor preference for stimulatory signals may ultimately lead to chronic allograft rejection.

#### 4.3 Clr-b expression in TEC inhibits NK cell activity

There are a plethora of receptors on NK cells, including activating receptors such as NKG2D, Ly49 subtypes which can either promote or inhibit activity, or the NKG2A/CD94 complex which inhibits cytotoxicity. These receptors bind to target cells to form an immune synapse and rearrange actin within the NK cell. This results in the reorganization of the golgi complex and microtubule organizing centre to polarize lytic granules toward the synapse, and the release of granzyme B or perforin towards the target cell. NK cells are also known to mediate inflammatory responses by secreting cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ . The degree of cytotoxicity depends on the balance between activating and inhibitory receptors.

We have previously demonstrated that NK cells can injure kidneys and TEC in a perforin-dependent manner<sup>265</sup>. Following IRI, we noted increased expression of the NK cell ligand Rae-1 on TEC, as well as stimulatory receptor NKG2D expression by NK cells. This receptor-ligand interaction was demonstrated to act as an NK cell activation signal to lyse TEC<sup>265</sup>. Fas-FasL pathway may also be another mechanism involved in acute ischemic kidney injury, as blockade of Fas ligand on leukocytes attenuated kidney IRI in mice<sup>67</sup>.

In this study, we silenced the inhibitory ligand Clr-b in BALB/c tubular cells by using siRNA technology to determine whether NK cell-mediated lysis is affected by the NKR-P1B-Clr-b molecular pathway. As suspected, *clr-b*-silenced cells had a higher level of cell death (Figure 12). We demonstrate that, without the inhibitory function of Clr-b, kidney TEC becomes more susceptible against NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. This indicates that Clr-b plays a dominant role to control NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity even in the presence of other activating molecules on NK cells. While Clr-b blockade with anti-Clr-b antibody did not alter NK cell-mediated lysis in our hands (Figure 11), we suspect that we either did not use a sufficient quantity of antibody or the antibody does not have neutralizing capabilities. We have nonetheless demonstrated with siRNA that removing *clr-b* proves to be very effective in promoting TEC death.

Interestingly, another study done in rat models found that NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> NK cells with high NKR-P1B expression killed YAC-1 cells at a higher efficiency than

either NKR-P1B<sup>-</sup> Ly49s3<sup>+</sup> NK cells or NK cells with low NKR-P1B expression<sup>100</sup>. These NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> NK cells, however, have been demonstrated to act as mature effector NK cells. Similar to effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, the NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> NK cells expressed low levels of CD62L, CCR7 and CD27, and had limited proliferative capacity<sup>212</sup>. A plausible explanation, therefore, is that other activating receptors on rat NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> NK cells in this scenario outbalanced the inhibitory effect of NKR-P1B, resulting in the higher cytotoxic efficiency. Another study that introduced genetically engineered chimeric NKR-P1B into primary mouse NK cells resulted in NKR-P1B overexpression and increased sensitivity against inhibitory Clr-b by NK cells<sup>234</sup>. In NS0 cells, NKR-P1B<sup>+</sup> NK cells demonstrated reduced cytotoxic efficiency against targets transfected with Clr11, the rat equivalent of Clr-b, than untransfected NS0 cells<sup>100</sup>. These studies support the inhibitory role of NKR-P1B-Clr-b interaction and our finding that Clr-b protects TEC against NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

In this study, we also noted that NKR-P1B is not affected by IL-2 stimulation (Figure 8). Similarly in rats, where subsets of NK cells with either high or low NKR-P1B expression were isolated and cultured *in vitro*, cytokine activation could not induce NKR-P1B<sup>100</sup>. However, while NKR-P1B may not be regulated with IL-2 stimulation, we were able to induce its ligand Clr-b with the cytokines IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in TEC. It may be that NKR-P1B is superfluous in nature, and expression of Clr-b may be the main dictator in this molecular pathway. In support of this hypothesis we found that C57BL/6 to (C57BL/6 × BALB/c)F1 transplantation resulted in Clr-b down-regulation in kidney grafts (Figure 16). Hence NK cell-mediated rejection may be mediated by the down-regulation of Clr-b in kidney grafts, shifting the balance towards NK cell activation. Taken together, we demonstrate that NKR-P1B-Clr-b interaction serves as an important mechanism in regulating NK cell function in kidney tubular cells. The inhibitory NKR-P1B receptor may play a tolerogenic role as an MHC Class I-independent mechanism to prevent NK cell-mediated lysis of healthy tubular cells.

Sequence analyses have determined that the NKR-P1 receptor subtypes consist of either the classical ITAM or ITIM motif<sup>10, 29, 83, 91, 139</sup>. NKR-P1A, NKR-P1C and NKR-P1F contain the ITAM motif and have been proposed to act as stimulatory receptors, while NKR-P1B and NKR-P1D contain ITIM motifs and are inhibitory. Interestingly, studies have suggested that the signalling pathway of these stimulatory receptors involve an interaction between the ITAM motif and the Fc receptor y-chain (FcRy) adaptor molecule<sup>9</sup>. In antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), specific antibodies recognize and bind to membrane antigens found on target cells. NK cells bind to the Fc region of these antibodies through its FcyIII receptors and release cytokines and cytotoxic granules toward the target cells, triggering apoptosis. It has been revealed that the FcyIII receptors on human NK cells can either mediate lysis against immunoglobulin (Ig)G antibody-coated target cells or induce NK cell inhibition upon interaction with monomeric IgG<sup>221</sup>. Similar to the stimulatory NKR-P1 receptors, FcyIII receptors also signal through intracellular recognition between the FcyIII ITAM motif and the FcyR adaptor molecule. Therefore, it remains possible that these stimulatory NKR-P1 receptors act additively or synergistically with FcyIII receptors to promote NK cell activity.

#### 4.4 Knock down of Clr-b using siRNA technology

RNA interference refers to post-transcriptional gene silencing by degrading or blocking the translation of the target RNA of interest. SiRNAs show great promise in both biological applications and clinical therapy as it has the ability to knock down any gene of interest. In addition to deciphering biological mechanisms at the molecular level, siRNAs can be therapeutic by turning off the responsible genes in many diseases.

However, much work remains to apply siRNA as a therapeutic tool. One of the greatest challenges for achieving RNAi with siRNA is that many cells are difficult to transfect. Another hurdle is the limited duration of post-transfection effects,

typically with gene silencing activities peaking around 24 hours, and diminishing within 48 hours<sup>189</sup>. Target specificity is also of concern, as studies have suggested that non-target genes with sequence homology as short as 9 nucleotides may be affected<sup>101</sup>. In addition to non-specificity, siRNA efficacy must also be considered because different siRNA sequences targeting the same gene of interest have different potencies. Furthermore, as siRNA is quickly degraded by the blood stream, the dose and delivery to the body needs to be optimized. In New Zealand mice, there is spontaneous development of antibodies to double-stranded RNA and DNA, which can be accelerated by the administration of synthetic double-stranded RNA<sup>186</sup>. Therefore, the cell target, synthetic gene sequence, and immune response need to be considered in order to optimize siRNA specificity and efficacy.

As RNAi blocks further protein synthesis, there is still an initial pool of protein prior to gene interference. Hence, another factor that alter siRNA efficacy is the kinetics of protein degradation. Here, we show that while there is significant mRNA knockdown by 24 h, Clr-b protein down-regulation is not visible on the cell surface until 96 h (Figure 12). siRNA efficacy also varies depending on the cell type, where certain cells may have high gene knockdown while others show no knockdown despite efficient transfection. One plausible explanation is the dilution of siRNA within cells due to rapid cell division. For every cell division, the intracellular siRNA is also divided, and cells that multiply will lose their initial pool of siRNA. If cells, such as TEC, undergo rapid cell division, the dose of siRNA within these cells may become insufficient to silence the gene of interest.

While siRNA application poses technical challenges, there are also limitations to other therapeutic tools. Antibodies pose the issues of specificity, efficacy, cost, and their inability to target intracellular proteins<sup>163, 172</sup>. Antibodies have a short circulating half-life and require large quantities for administration<sup>219</sup>. There are also issues with limited penetration and antigen internalization by tumour cells<sup>219</sup>. Knockouts are technically challenging and limited to *in vitro* embryonic manipulations of animal cells. Antisense oligonucleotides are single-stranded

RNA or DNA of approximately 18-30 base pairs in length and complementary to target mRNA, resulting in either the cleavage of the resulting dsRNA by RNase H enzyme activity or blockade of the ribosomal assembly<sup>139</sup>. However, unlike siRNA, antisense oligonucleotides are not amplified by an existing endogenous gene silencing pathway. High intracellular concentrations are required due to its low stability, resulting in higher cost and toxicity, and sufficient time is needed to recognize and bind to the target mRNA<sup>19, 209, 228, 233</sup>. Ribozymes are catalytic RNAs that can perform sequence-specific mRNA cleavage. Ribozymes mediate the hydrolysis of self-phosphodiester bonds and hydrolysis of phosphodiester bonds in other RNAs and can catalyze the aminotransferase activity of the ribosome<sup>29, 87, 160, 203</sup>. Nevertheless, ribozymes require considerable optimization for efficiency and specificity to serve as a therapeutic tool. Finally, while microRNAs serve as powerful endogenous post-transcriptional regulators, they act by binding to complementary sequences on families of mRNA targets, resulting in multiple gene targeting functions<sup>14, 91, 134, 138, 140, 143</sup>.

Extensive studies currently exist to optimize siRNA efficacy for clinical applications. Short-hairpin RNA (shRNA) can be used for prolonged and enhanced gene knockdown. Short-hairpin RNA is delivered via viral vectors and translocates to the cell nucleus. It is then exported for DICER to process the shRNA into functional siRNA. The process of converting shRNA into functional siRNA involves an endogenous RNAi machinery that naturally processes miRNA responsible for gene regulation<sup>96</sup>. There are reports, however, implicating shRNA to cause lethal toxicity<sup>154, 158, 159</sup>. In a human hepatitis B virus mouse model, Grimm and colleages studied the effects of 49 shRNAs, distinct in length and sequence, using a viral vector directed toward the liver in mice. They found that 36 of the tested shRNAs caused dose-dependent liver injury, and 23 shRNAs had killed their hosts within two months independent of the viral vector<sup>85</sup>. However, weakly-expressed shRNAs at low doses decreased serum viral DNA without signs of toxicity<sup>85</sup>. Furthermore, toxic shRNA levels were shown to inhibit the microRNA *miR-122* processing in the liver, whereas nontoxic shRNA doses did not<sup>85</sup>. It is possible that shRNA toxicity may be the result of oversaturating the

cellular miRNA processing machinery, preventing vital miRNAs from accessing those proteins. Therefore, shRNA sequence and dose are imperative in controlling endogenous shRNA expression for therapeutic potential.

Nanoparticles are also particularly of interest, as they may be a solution to siRNA's low stability in the bloodstream and provide a method for cell-specific delivery. Biodegradable poly(ester amine), a cationic polymer, conjugated to a kidney targeting peptide has been demonstrated to show good physicochemical properties as a gene delivery carrier, with DNA condensation ability, protection from enzyme degradation, and formation of nanosized complexes with spherical shapes. Its efficacy was demonstrated with the HGF gene in unilateral ureteral obstruction rat models to recover renal functions and treat kidney fibrosis<sup>119</sup>. Nanoparticles, consequently, also have promising potential to overcome current obstacles in siRNA delivery and gene therapy.

#### 4.5 IRI susceptibility and strain-dependent genetic differences

C57BL/6 mice are the most commonly used inbred strain for general purpose and for the generation of congenic mutations. Although this strain is refractory to many tumours, it allows maximal expression of most mutations. BALB/c mice are also among the top 3 most widely used inbred strains. This strain is well-known for the production of plasmacytomas after injection with mineral oil, which is used for generating monoclonal antibodies.

BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice are well established to have different immune responses under physiological and pathological states, due to interstrain differences in their genetic background<sup>146</sup>. When compared to C57BL/6 mice, the BALB/c strain preferentially develops T helper type 2 cells over T helper type 1, is more resistant to autoimmune diseases, and is more susceptible to intracellular parasite infection and tumorigenesis. IFN- $\gamma$  production by C57BL/6 T lymphocytes activates macrophages to produce NO and initiates inflammation,

while BALB/c T lymphocytes produce more IL-4 that suppresses macrophages<sup>90,</sup> <sup>205</sup>. A previous study demonstrated that C57BL/6 macrophages also produce higher levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-12 than those from BALB/c mice after stimulation of TLR-2 or TLR-4<sup>252</sup>. The resulting IL-12 production by C57BL/6 macrophages increases IFN-y while decreases IL-13 production by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells<sup>252</sup>. Studies have demonstrated that C57BL/6 mice are more susceptible to the induction of autoimmune diseases such as myasthenia gravis<sup>83</sup> and uveitis<sup>13, 36, 222</sup>, while BALB/c mice display increased susceptibility to mammary<sup>162, 237</sup> and colon tumours<sup>132</sup>. In addition to immunological differences between mouse strains, there are also variations between the sexes. A Recent study showed that male BALB/c mice infected with coxsackievirus B3 resulted in severe myocarditis and gave predominantly a T helper cell type 1 immune response. Conversely, females gave predominantly a T helper cell type 2 response. It was further demonstrated that the sex hormones testosterone and estradiol may be involved in the different T helper immune responses<sup>95</sup>. These discrepancies between mouse strains and the sexes offer significant distinctions in their immune responses for scientists to take into account and manipulate.

We have demonstrated that C57BL/6 mice are more susceptible to renal IRI than BALB/c mice (Figure 15), which may be due to not only the preferential dominance of T helper type 2 cells, but also the lack of MHC Class II Ea antigens. The MHC Class II antigens are surface glycoproteins involved in controlling immune responses and known to inhibit NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity<sup>104, 120, 148, 149, 161</sup>. A recent study demonstrated that NK cells can acquire MHC Class II antigens by intercellular membrane transfer, or trogocytosis, with dendritic cells and thereby competitively compete with T helper cells for antigen presentation<sup>168</sup>. C57BL/6 is an H-2<sup>b</sup> haplotype mouse strain that lack the MHC Class II E<sub>a</sub> molecules, whereas BALB/c is haplotype H-2<sup>d</sup> and does not<sup>155</sup>. Cells from mouse strains with haplotypes H-2<sup>b</sup>, H-2<sup>s</sup>, H-2<sup>q</sup>, and H-2<sup>f</sup> fail to express one of the antigen complexes, the E complex, on the surface<sup>106</sup>. The presence of the E<sub>a</sub> gene's promoter region allows the expression of I-E molecules responsible for the autoimmune inhibitory effect<sup>97, 157</sup>. While E<sub>a</sub> mRNA was found
to be 1.25 kb in length,  $E_{\alpha}$  probes detected mRNA 2.8 kb in length from H-2<sup>f</sup> mice, and mice of the *q* haplotype have defective RNA processing causing mRNA instability<sup>157</sup>. Mice of haplotypes *b* and *s*, including C57BL/6, were found to bear a deletion in the  $E_{\alpha}$  gene. Thus, NK cell activation by MHC Class II antigens, along with other NK cell signalling mechanisms, may explain the variable susceptibility of renal IRI between mouse strains.

Here, we detected Clr-b on tubular cells regardless of whether it is of the BALB/c or C57BL/6 phenotype. However, strain variability comes into play on NK cells, as NKR-P1B is expressed differently depending on the strain of mouse. In a previous publication, cross-linking of NKR-P1B and NKR-P1C receptors on (C57BL/6 × Sw)F1 NK cells revealed a dominance of NKR-P1B inhibitory response over NKR-P1C stimulatory signalling<sup>32</sup>. Here, we confirm that NK cells from BALB/c mice express NKR-P1B, while C57BL/6 NK cells do not express this inhibitory receptor (Figure 8)<sup>34</sup>. This may provide additional insights for the variable susceptibilities to injury and NK cell-mediated immunological responses of different mouse strains. In our transplant experiment, kidney *clr-b* expression was significantly down-regulated after 60 days (Figure 16), providing a possible mechanism for NK cell-mediated injury in kidney grafts. The expression of inhibitory receptor NKR-P1B and its ligand Clr-b may therefore be one of the mechanisms that protect BALB/c mice against NK cell-mediated renal injury and explains the increased resistance against renal IRI.

### 4.6 Conclusions

Based on our findings, CIr-b expression on TEC and the kidney is found to be upregulated after renal injury. As CIr-b-NKR-P1B interaction serves to protect cells from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity, blockade of CIr-b may enhance TEC death and kidney injury caused by NK cells. We also found that the common proinflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , known to be associated with kidney allograft injury<sup>68</sup>, induce CIr-b expression in TEC and the kidney (Figures 4 and 6). Cytokine-induced Clr-b expression, therefore, may prevent NK cell-mediated injury in TEC and the kidney. Furthermore, we also found that there were significant variations in NKR-P1 receptor subtype expression between mouse strains (Figure 8). It is possible that NKR-P1 polymorphisms in humans may explain the different susceptibilities of patients against ischemia-reperfusion injury. Up-regulating inhibitory Clr-b in transplant patients thus may protect the kidney from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity in acute and chronic allograft injury.

## 4.7 Future directions

We will study whether increased Clr-b expression by gene delivery techniques can inhibit NK cell-mediated acute and chronic kidney injury, which may render a rationale for future clinical therapy to overcome NK cell-mediated lysis. We will examine whether enhancing expression of Clr-b before IRI can prevent kidney cells from NK cell-mediated injury. Clr-b expression will be amplified *in vivo* through Clr-b-coded vectors and renal injury will be measured by serum creatinine. Mice injected with Clr-b-coded vectors will be compared with its control vector with no Clr-b insertion (Origene, Rockville, MD).

# References

- 1 K. Ahmed, D. A. Gerber, and C. Cochet, 'Joining the Cell Survival Squad: An Emerging Role for Protein Kinase Ck2', *Trends Cell Biol*, 12 (2002), 226-30.
- H. Aldemir, V. Prod'homme, M. J. Dumaurier, C. Retiere, G. Poupon, J. Cazareth, F. Bihl, and V. M. Braud, 'Cutting Edge: Lectin-Like Transcript 1 Is a Ligand for the Cd161 Receptor', *J Immunol*, 175 (2005), 7791-5.
- M. R. Alderson, T. W. Tough, T. Davis-Smith, S. Braddy, B. Falk, K. A. Schooley, R. G. Goodwin, C. A. Smith, F. Ramsdell, and D. H. Lynch, 'Fas Ligand Mediates Activation-Induced Cell Death in Human T Lymphocytes', *J Exp Med*, 181 (1995), 71-7.
- 4 C. R. Amura, B. Renner, T. Lyubchenko, S. Faubel, P. L. Simonian, and J. M. Thurman, 'Complement Activation and Toll-Like Receptor-2 Signaling Contribute to Cytokine Production after Renal Ischemia/Reperfusion', *Mol Immunol*, 52 (2012), 249-57.
- 5 S. K. Anderson, K. Dewar, M. L. Goulet, G. Leveque, and A. P. Makrigiannis, 'Complete Elucidation of a Minimal Class I Mhc Natural Killer Cell Receptor Haplotype', *Genes Immun*, 6 (2005), 481-92.
- D. M. Andrews, and M. J. Smyth, 'A Potential Role for Rag-1 in Nk Cell Development Revealed by Analysis of Nk Cells During Ontogeny', *Immunol Cell Biol*, 88 (2010), 107-16.
- H. Arase, N. Arase, and T. Saito, 'Interferon Gamma Production by Natural Killer (Nk) Cells and Nk1.1+ T Cells Upon Nkr-P1 Cross-Linking', *J Exp Med*, 183 (1996), 2391-6.
- 8 H. Arase, E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier, 'Direct Recognition of Cytomegalovirus by Activating and Inhibitory Nk Cell Receptors', *Science*, 296 (2002), 1323-6.
- 9 N. Arase, H. Arase, S. Y. Park, H. Ohno, C. Ra, and T. Saito, 'Association with Fcrgamma Is Essential for Activation Signal through Nkr-P1 (Cd161) in Natural Killer (Nk) Cells and Nk1.1+ T Cells', *J Exp Med*, 186 (1997), 1957-63.
- D. B. Ascon, S. Lopez-Briones, M. Liu, M. Ascon, V. Savransky, R. B. Colvin, M. J. Soloski, and H. Rabb, 'Phenotypic and Functional Characterization of Kidney-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Renal Ischemia Reperfusion Injury', J Immunol, 177 (2006), 3380-7.
- 11 A. Ashkenazi, and V. M. Dixit, 'Death Receptors: Signaling and Modulation', *Science*, 281 (1998), 1305-8.

- 12 J. G. Aust, F. Gays, K. M. Mickiewicz, E. Buchanan, and C. G. Brooks, 'The Expression and Function of the Nkrp1 Receptor Family in C57bl/6 Mice', J Immunol, 183 (2009), 106-16.
- 13 D. Avichezer, G. I. Liou, C. C. Chan, G. M. Lewis, B. Wiggert, L. A. Donoso, J. M. Nickerson, M. A. Crawford, and R. R. Caspi, 'Interphotoreceptor Retinoid-Binding Protein (Irbp)-Deficient C57bl/6 Mice Have Enhanced Immunological and Immunopathogenic Responses to Irbp and an Altered Recognition of Irbp Epitopes', *J Autoimmun*, 21 (2003), 185-94.
- 14 D. Baek, J. Villen, C. Shin, F. D. Camargo, S. P. Gygi, and D. P. Bartel, 'The Impact of Micrornas on Protein Output', *Nature*, 455 (2008), 64-71.
- 15 J. L. Balligand, D. Ungureanu-Longrois, W. W. Simmons, D. Pimental, T. A. Malinski, M. Kapturczak, Z. Taha, C. J. Lowenstein, A. J. Davidoff, R. A. Kelly, and et al., 'Cytokine-Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (Inos) Expression in Cardiac Myocytes. Characterization and Regulation of Inos Expression and Detection of Inos Activity in Single Cardiac Myocytes in Vitro', *J Biol Chem*, 269 (1994), 27580-8.
- 16 Kathy Jabs Barbara Fivush, Tej Mattoo, William Primack, Joseph Flynn, Ira Davis, Ann Guillott, Steve Alexander, Deborah Kees-Folts, Alicia Neu, Steve Wassner, John Brandt, Manju Chandra, Frederick Kaskel, Sharon Andreoli, 'Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome in Children', ed. by The National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (Bethesda, MD 2009).
- 17 S. Bauer, V. Groh, J. Wu, A. Steinle, J. H. Phillips, L. L. Lanier, and T. Spies, 'Activation of Nk Cells and T Cells by Nkg2d, a Receptor for Stress-Inducible Mica', *Science*, 285 (1999), 727-9.
- 18 G. Benichou, Y. Yamada, A. Aoyama, and J. C. Madsen, 'Natural Killer Cells in Rejection and Tolerance of Solid Organ Allografts', *Curr Opin Organ Transplant* (2010).
- 19 J. R. Bertrand, M. Pottier, A. Vekris, P. Opolon, A. Maksimenko, and C. Malvy, 'Comparison of Antisense Oligonucleotides and Sirnas in Cell Culture and in Vivo', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 296 (2002), 1000-4.
- 20 K. Bezouska, G. Vlahas, O. Horvath, G. Jinochova, A. Fiserova, R. Giorda, W. H. Chambers, T. Feizi, and M. Pospisil, 'Rat Natural Killer Cell Antigen, Nkr-P1, Related to C-Type Animal Lectins Is a Carbohydrate-Binding Protein', *J Biol Chem*, 269 (1994), 16945-52.
- 21 K. Bezouska, C. T. Yuen, J. O'Brien, R. A. Childs, W. Chai, A. M. Lawson, K. Drbal, A. Fiserova, M. Pospisil, and T. Feizi, 'Oligosaccharide Ligands for Nkr-P1 Protein Activate Nk Cells and Cytotoxicity', *Nature*, 372 (1994), 150-7.

- 22 K. M. Boatright, C. Deis, J. B. Denault, D. P. Sutherlin, and G. S. Salvesen, 'Activation of Caspases-8 and -10 by Flip(L)', *Biochem J*, 382 (2004), 651-7.
- 23 M. P. Boldin, T. M. Goncharov, Y. V. Goltsev, and D. Wallach, 'Involvement of Mach, a Novel Mort1/Fadd-Interacting Protease, in Fas/Apo-1- and Tnf Receptor-Induced Cell Death', *Cell*, 85 (1996), 803-15.
- 24 J. V. Bonventre, and A. Zuk, 'Ischemic Acute Renal Failure: An Inflammatory Disease?', *Kidney Int*, 66 (2004), 480-5.
- J. G. Boonstra, F. J. van der Woude, P. C. Wever, J. C. Laterveer, M. R. Daha, and C. van Kooten, 'Expression and Function of Fas (Cd95) on Human Renal Tubular Epithelial Cells', *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 8 (1997), 1517-24.
- M. G. Brown, A. O. Dokun, J. W. Heusel, H. R. Smith, D. L. Beckman, E. A.
   Blattenberger, C. E. Dubbelde, L. R. Stone, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama,
   'Vital Involvement of a Natural Killer Cell Activation Receptor in Resistance to
   Viral Infection', *Science*, 292 (2001), 934-7.
- M. J. Burne, F. Daniels, A. El Ghandour, S. Mauiyyedi, R. B. Colvin, M. P.
   O'Donnell, and H. Rabb, 'Identification of the Cd4(+) T Cell as a Major
   Pathogenic Factor in Ischemic Acute Renal Failure', *J Clin Invest*, 108 (2001), 1283-90.
- 28 Katja Kotsch Cam-Tien Le, 'Nk Cells, Nkt Cells, and Kir in Solid Organ Transplantation', in *Natural Killer Cells*, ed. by Jacques ZimmerSpringer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010), pp. 221-39.
- 29 F. H. Cameron, and P. A. Jennings, 'Specific Gene Suppression by Engineered Ribozymes in Monkey Cells', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86 (1989), 9139-43.
- 30 K. S. Campbell, and R. Giorda, 'The Cytoplasmic Domain of Rat Nkr-P1 Receptor Interacts with the N-Terminal Domain of P56(Lck) Via Cysteine Residues', *Eur J Immunol*, 27 (1997), 72-7.
- 31 J. R. Carlyle, A. M. Jamieson, S. Gasser, C. S. Clingan, H. Arase, and D. H. Raulet, 'Missing Self-Recognition of Ocil/Clr-B by Inhibitory Nkr-P1 Natural Killer Cell Receptors', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101 (2004), 3527-32.
- 32 J. R. Carlyle, A. Martin, A. Mehra, L. Attisano, F. W. Tsui, and J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker, 'Mouse Nkr-P1b, a Novel Nk1.1 Antigen with Inhibitory Function', *J Immunol*, 162 (1999), 5917-23.
- J. R. Carlyle, A. Mesci, J. H. Fine, P. Chen, S. Belanger, L. H. Tai, and A. P. Makrigiannis, 'Evolution of the Ly49 and Nkrp1 Recognition Systems', *Semin Immunol*, 20 (2008), 321-30.

- 34 J. R. Carlyle, A. Mesci, B. Ljutic, S. Belanger, L. H. Tai, E. Rousselle, A. D. Troke, M. F. Proteau, and A. P. Makrigiannis, 'Molecular and Genetic Basis for Strain-Dependent Nk1.1 Alloreactivity of Mouse Nk Cells', *J Immunol*, 176 (2006), 7511-24.
- 35 J. R. Carlyle, A. M. Michie, C. Furlonger, T. Nakano, M. J. Lenardo, C. J. Paige, and J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker, 'Identification of a Novel Developmental Stage Marking Lineage Commitment of Progenitor Thymocytes', *J Exp Med*, 186 (1997), 173-82.
- 36 R. R. Caspi, B. G. Grubbs, C. C. Chan, G. J. Chader, and B. Wiggert, 'Genetic Control of Susceptibility to Experimental Autoimmune Uveoretinitis in the Mouse Model. Concomitant Regulation by Mhc and Non-Mhc Genes', *J Immunol*, 148 (1992), 2384-9.
- 37 S. Cassie, M. F. Masterson, A. Polukoshko, M. M. Viskovic, and L. A. Tibbles, 'Ischemia/Reperfusion Induces the Recruitment of Leukocytes from Whole Blood under Flow Conditions', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 36 (2004), 1102-11.
- 38 W. H. Chambers, N. L. Vujanovic, A. B. DeLeo, M. W. Olszowy, R. B. Herberman, and J. C. Hiserodt, 'Monoclonal Antibody to a Triggering Structure Expressed on Rat Natural Killer Cells and Adherent Lymphokine-Activated Killer Cells', *J Exp Med*, 169 (1989), 1373-89.
- 39 D. W. Chang, Z. Xing, Y. Pan, A. Algeciras-Schimnich, B. C. Barnhart, S. Yaish-Ohad, M. E. Peter, and X. Yang, 'C-Flip(L) Is a Dual Function Regulator for Caspase-8 Activation and Cd95-Mediated Apoptosis', *EMBO J*, 21 (2002), 3704-14.
- 40 J. R. Chapman, P. J. O'Connell, and B. J. Nankivell, 'Chronic Renal Allograft Dysfunction', *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 16 (2005), 3015-26.
- 41 G. E. Chen, H. Wu, J. Ma, S. J. Chadban, and A. Sharland, 'Toll-Like Receptor 4 Engagement Contributes to Expression of Nkg2d Ligands by Renal Tubular Epithelial Cells', *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 26 (2011), 3873-81.
- 42 O. Cheng, R. Thuillier, E. Sampson, G. Schultz, P. Ruiz, X. Zhang, P. S. Yuen, and R. B. Mannon, 'Connective Tissue Growth Factor Is a Biomarker and Mediator of Kidney Allograft Fibrosis', *Am J Transplant*, 6 (2006), 2292-306.
- 43 L. Chiossone, J. Chaix, N. Fuseri, C. Roth, E. Vivier, and T. Walzer, 'Maturation of Mouse Nk Cells Is a 4-Stage Developmental Program', *Blood*, 113 (2009), 5488-96.
- Y. S. Cho, S. Challa, D. Moquin, R. Genga, T. D. Ray, M. Guildford, and F. K. Chan, 'Phosphorylation-Driven Assembly of the Rip1-Rip3 Complex Regulates Programmed Necrosis and Virus-Induced Inflammation', *Cell*, 137 (2009), 1112-23.

- 45 U. Christians, J. Klawitter, N. Brunner, and V. Schmitz, 'Biomarkers of Immunosuppressant Organ Toxicity after Transplantation: Status, Concepts and Misconceptions', *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*, 7 (2011), 175-200.
- 46 Frederic L. Coe, 'Kidney Stones in Adults', ed. by National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (Bethesda, MD, 2007).
- 47 G. Cooksey, R. A. Robins, and R. W. Blamey, 'Natural Killer Cells in Renal Allograft Rejection', *Br J Surg*, 71 (1984), 874-7.
- 48 Christopher Cooper, 'Renal Artery Stenosis', ed. by National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (Bethesda, MD, 2012).
- 49 L. F. Cotlin, M. A. Siddiqui, F. Simpson, and J. F. Collawn, 'Casein Kinase Ii Activity Is Required for Transferrin Receptor Endocytosis', *J Biol Chem*, 274 (1999), 30550-6.
- 50 M. T. Coulson, P. Jablonski, B. O. Howden, N. M. Thomson, and A. N. Stein, 'Beyond Operational Tolerance: Effect of Ischemic Injury on Development of Chronic Damage in Renal Grafts', *Transplantation*, 80 (2005), 353-61.
- 51 B. M. Coupes, C. G. Newstead, C. D. Short, and P. E. Brenchley, 'Transforming Growth Factor Beta 1 in Renal Allograft Recipients', *Transplantation*, 57 (1994), 1727-31.
- 52 K. Csencsits, S. C. Wood, G. Lu, S. M. Faust, D. Brigstock, E. J. Eichwald, C. G. Orosz, and D. K. Bishop, 'Transforming Growth Factor Beta-Induced Connective Tissue Growth Factor and Chronic Allograft Rejection', *Am J Transplant*, 6 (2006), 959-66.
- 53 M. A. Daemen, M. W. van de Ven, E. Heineman, and W. A. Buurman, 'Involvement of Endogenous Interleukin-10 and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha in Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *Transplantation*, 67 (1999), 792-800.
- 54 Y. J. Day, L. Huang, H. Ye, L. Li, J. Linden, and M. D. Okusa, 'Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury and Adenosine 2a Receptor-Mediated Tissue Protection: The Role of Cd4+ T Cells and Ifn-Gamma', *J Immunol*, 176 (2006), 3108-14.
- 55 K. E. De Greef, D. K. Ysebaert, S. Dauwe, V. Persy, S. R. Vercauteren, D. Mey, and M. E. De Broe, 'Anti-B7-1 Blocks Mononuclear Cell Adherence in Vasa Recta after Ischemia', *Kidney Int*, 60 (2001), 1415-27.
- 56 K. E. De Greef, D. K. Ysebaert, M. Ghielli, S. Vercauteren, E. J. Nouwen, E. J. Eyskens, and M. E. De Broe, 'Neutrophils and Acute Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *J Nephrol*, 11 (1998), 110-22.
- 57 A. Degterev, J. Hitomi, M. Germscheid, I. L. Ch'en, O. Korkina, X. Teng, D. Abbott, G. D. Cuny, C. Yuan, G. Wagner, S. M. Hedrick, S. A. Gerber, A.

- 58 J. Dhein, H. Walczak, C. Baumler, K. M. Debatin, and P. H. Krammer, 'Autocrine T-Cell Suicide Mediated by Apo-1/(Fas/Cd95)', *Nature*, 373 (1995), 438-41.
- 59 A. Diefenbach, A. M. Jamieson, S. D. Liu, N. Shastri, and D. H. Raulet, 'Ligands for the Murine Nkg2d Receptor: Expression by Tumor Cells and Activation of Nk Cells and Macrophages', *Nat Immunol*, 1 (2000), 119-26.
- 60 A. Diefenbach, E. R. Jensen, A. M. Jamieson, and D. H. Raulet, 'Rae1 and H60 Ligands of the Nkg2d Receptor Stimulate Tumour Immunity', *Nature*, 413 (2001), 165-71.
- 61 M. J. Dillon, and C. D. Goonasekera, 'Reflux Nephropathy', *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 9 (1998), 2377-83.
- 62 X. Dong, S. Swaminathan, L. A. Bachman, A. J. Croatt, K. A. Nath, and M. D. Griffin, 'Resident Dendritic Cells Are the Predominant Tnf-Secreting Cell in Early Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *Kidney Int*, 71 (2007), 619-28.
- 63 K. K. Donnahoo, B. D. Shames, A. H. Harken, and D. R. Meldrum, 'Review Article: The Role of Tumor Necrosis Factor in Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *J Urol*, 162 (1999), 196-203.
- 64 I. Douagi, F. Colucci, J. P. Di Santo, and A. Cumano, 'Identification of the Earliest Prethymic Bipotent T/Nk Progenitor in Murine Fetal Liver', *Blood*, 99 (2002), 463-71.
- 65 D. Dragun, U. Hoff, J. K. Park, Y. Qun, W. Schneider, F. C. Luft, and H. Haller, 'Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Renal Transplantation Is Independent of the Immunologic Background', *Kidney Int*, 58 (2000), 2166-77.
- 66 C. Du, Q. Guan, H. Diao, Z. Yin, and A. M. Jevnikar, 'Nitric Oxide Induces Apoptosis in Renal Tubular Epithelial Cells through Activation of Caspase-8', *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 290 (2006), F1044-54.
- 67 C. Du, Q. Guan, Z. Yin, M. Masterson, R. Zhong, and A. M. Jevnikar, 'Renal Tubular Epithelial Cell Apoptosis by Fas-Fasl-Dependent Self-Injury Can Augment Renal Allograft Injury', *Transplant Proc*, 35 (2003), 2481-2.
- 68 C. Du, J. Jiang, Q. Guan, Z. Yin, M. Masterson, A. Parbtani, R. Zhong, and A. M. Jevnikar, 'Renal Tubular Epithelial Cell Self-Injury through Fas/Fas Ligand Interaction Promotes Renal Allograft Injury', *Am J Transplant*, 4 (2004), 1583-94.
- 69 C. Du, S. Wang, H. Diao, Q. Guan, R. Zhong, and A. M. Jevnikar, 'Increasing Resistance of Tubular Epithelial Cells to Apoptosis by Shrna Therapy

Ameliorates Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', Am J Transplant, 6 (2006), 2256-67.

- 70 A. M. El-Nahas, 'Plasticity of Kidney Cells: Role in Kidney Remodeling and Scarring', *Kidney Int*, 64 (2003), 1553-63.
- 71 T. Esaki, T. Hayashi, E. Muto, H. Kano, T. N. Kumar, Y. Asai, D. Sumi, and A. Iguchi, 'Expression of Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase and Fas/Fas Ligand Correlates with the Incidence of Apoptotic Cell Death in Atheromatous Plaques of Human Coronary Arteries', *Nitric Oxide*, 4 (2000), 561-71.
- 72 C. Fauriat, E. O. Long, H. G. Ljunggren, and Y. T. Bryceson, 'Regulation of Human Nk-Cell Cytokine and Chemokine Production by Target Cell Recognition', *Blood*, 115 (2010), 2167-76.
- N. C. Fernandez, E. Treiner, R. E. Vance, A. M. Jamieson, S. Lemieux, and D. H. Raulet, 'A Subset of Natural Killer Cells Achieves Self-Tolerance without Expressing Inhibitory Receptors Specific for Self-Mhc Molecules', *Blood*, 105 (2005), 4416-23.
- 74 J. H. Fine, P. Chen, A. Mesci, D. S. Allan, S. Gasser, D. H. Raulet, and J. R. Carlyle, 'Chemotherapy-Induced Genotoxic Stress Promotes Sensitivity to Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity by Enabling Missing-Self Recognition', *Cancer Res*, 70 (2010), 7102-13.
- 75 M. C. Freitas, Y. Uchida, C. Lassman, G. M. Danovitch, R. W. Busuttil, and J. W. Kupiec-Weglinski, 'Type I Interferon Pathway Mediates Renal Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury', *Transplantation*, 92 (2011), 131-8.
- 76 M. Frey, N. B. Packianathan, T. A. Fehniger, M. E. Ross, W. C. Wang, C. C. Stewart, M. A. Caligiuri, and S. S. Evans, 'Differential Expression and Function of L-Selectin on Cd56bright and Cd56dim Natural Killer Cell Subsets', *J Immunol*, 161 (1998), 400-8.
- J. J. Friedewald, and H. Rabb, 'Inflammatory Cells in Ischemic Acute Renal Failure', *Kidney Int*, 66 (2004), 486-91.
- Z. Gaciong, K. Koziak, P. Religa, A. Lisiecka, M. Morzycka-Michalik, K. Rell,
   B. Kozlowska-Boszko, and M. Lao, 'Increased Expression of Growth Factors During Chronic Rejection of Human Kidney Allograft', *Transplant Proc*, 27 (1995), 928-9.
- 79 R. Giorda, and M. Trucco, 'Mouse Nkr-P1. A Family of Genes Selectively Coexpressed in Adherent Lymphokine-Activated Killer Cells', *J Immunol*, 147 (1991), 1701-8.
- L. Glimcher, F. W. Shen, and H. Cantor, 'Identification of a Cell-Surface Antigen Selectively Expressed on the Natural Killer Cell', *J Exp Med*, 145 (1977), 1-9.

- 81 'Glomerular Diseases', ed. by National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (Bethesda, MD, 2006).
- 82 P. A. Glynne, and T. J. Evans, 'Inflammatory Cytokines Induce Apoptotic and Necrotic Cell Shedding from Human Proximal Tubular Epithelial Cell Monolayers', *Kidney Int*, 55 (1999), 2573-97.
- 83 Y. M. Graus, P. J. van Breda Vriesman, and M. H. de Baets, 'Characterization of Anti-Acetylcholine Receptor (Achr) Antibodies from Mice Differing in Susceptibility for Experimental Autoimmune Myasthenia Gravis (Eamg)', *Clin Exp Immunol*, 92 (1993), 506-13.
- 84 R. Graziotto, D. Del Prete, P. Rigotti, F. Anglani, N. Baldan, L. Furian, M. Valente, A. Antonello, F. Marchini, A. D'Angelo, and G. Gambaro, 'Perforin, Granzyme B, and Fas Ligand for Molecular Diagnosis of Acute Renal-Allograft Rejection: Analyses on Serial Biopsies Suggest Methodological Issues', *Transplantation*, 81 (2006), 1125-32.
- 85 D. Grimm, K. L. Streetz, C. L. Jopling, T. A. Storm, K. Pandey, C. R. Davis, P. Marion, F. Salazar, and M. A. Kay, 'Fatality in Mice Due to Oversaturation of Cellular Microrna/Short Hairpin Rna Pathways', *Nature*, 441 (2006), 537-41.
- L. N. Hao, Y. Q. Zhang, Y. H. Shen, Z. Y. Wang, and Y. H. Wang, 'Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase and Fas/Fasl with C3 Expression of Mouse Retinal Pigment Epithelial Cells in Response to Stimulation by Peroxynitrite and Antagonism of Puerarin', *Chin Med J (Engl)*, 124 (2011), 2522-9.
- J. Haseloff, and W. L. Gerlach, 'Simple Rna Enzymes with New and Highly Specific Endoribonuclease Activities', *Nature*, 334 (1988), 585-91.
- 88 Y. Hayakawa, and M. J. Smyth, 'Cd27 Dissects Mature Nk Cells into Two Subsets with Distinct Responsiveness and Migratory Capacity', *J Immunol*, 176 (2006), 1517-24.
- 89 S. He, L. Wang, L. Miao, T. Wang, F. Du, L. Zhao, and X. Wang, 'Receptor Interacting Protein Kinase-3 Determines Cellular Necrotic Response to Tnf-Alpha', *Cell*, 137 (2009), 1100-11.
- 90 F. P. Heinzel, M. D. Sadick, B. J. Holaday, R. L. Coffman, and R. M. Locksley, 'Reciprocal Expression of Interferon Gamma or Interleukin 4 During the Resolution or Progression of Murine Leishmaniasis. Evidence for Expansion of Distinct Helper T Cell Subsets', *J Exp Med*, 169 (1989), 59-72.
- 91 D. G. Hendrickson, D. J. Hogan, H. L. McCullough, J. W. Myers, D. Herschlag, J. E. Ferrell, and P. O. Brown, 'Concordant Regulation of Translation and Mrna Abundance for Hundreds of Targets of a Human Microrna', *PLoS Biol*, 7 (2009), e1000238.

- 92 M. L. Hess, E. Okabe, and H. A. Kontos, 'Proton and Free Oxygen Radical Interaction with the Calcium Transport System of Cardiac Sarcoplasmic Reticulum', *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 13 (1981), 767-72.
- 93 A. W. Ho, C. K. Wong, and C. W. Lam, 'Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha up-Regulates the Expression of Ccl2 and Adhesion Molecules of Human Proximal Tubular Epithelial Cells through Mapk Signaling Pathways', *Immunobiology*, 213 (2008), 533-44.
- 94 N. Holler, R. Zaru, O. Micheau, M. Thome, A. Attinger, S. Valitutti, J. L. Bodmer, P. Schneider, B. Seed, and J. Tschopp, 'Fas Triggers an Alternative, Caspase-8-Independent Cell Death Pathway Using the Kinase Rip as Effector Molecule', *Nat Immunol*, 1 (2000), 489-95.
- 95 S. A. Huber, and B. Pfaeffle, 'Differential Th1 and Th2 Cell Responses in Male and Female Balb/C Mice Infected with Coxsackievirus Group B Type 3', *J Virol*, 68 (1994), 5126-32.
- 96 G. Hutvagner, and P. D. Zamore, 'A Microrna in a Multiple-Turnover Rnai Enzyme Complex', *Science*, 297 (2002), 2056-60.
- 97 N. Ibnou-Zekri, M. Iwamoto, L. Fossati, P. J. McConahey, and S. Izui, 'Role of the Major Histocompatibility Complex Class Ii Ea Gene in Lupus Susceptibility in Mice', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94 (1997), 14654-9.
- 98 A. H. Idris, H. R. Smith, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'The Natural Killer Gene Complex Genetic Locus Chok Encodes Ly-49d, a Target Recognition Receptor That Activates Natural Killing', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96 (1999), 6330-5.
- 99 K. Iizuka, O. V. Naidenko, B. F. Plougastel, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Genetically Linked C-Type Lectin-Related Ligands for the Nkrp1 Family of Natural Killer Cell Receptors', *Nat Immunol*, 4 (2003), 801-7.
- M. Inngjerdingen, L. Kveberg, and J. T. Vaage, 'A Novel Nkr-P1b(Bright) Nk
   Cell Subset Expresses an Activated Cd25(+)Cx(3)Cr1(+)Cd62l(-)Cd11b(-)Cd27( ) Phenotype and Is Prevalent in Blood, Liver, and Gut-Associated Lymphoid
   Organs of Rats', *J Immunol*, 188 (2012), 2499-508.
- 101 A. L. Jackson, S. R. Bartz, J. Schelter, S. V. Kobayashi, J. Burchard, M. Mao, B. Li, G. Cavet, and P. S. Linsley, 'Expression Profiling Reveals Off-Target Gene Regulation by Rnai', *Nat Biotechnol*, 21 (2003), 635-7.
- 102 H. R. Jang, and H. Rabb, 'The Innate Immune Response in Ischemic Acute Kidney Injury', *Clin Immunol*, 130 (2009), 41-50.

- 103 A. M. Jevnikar, and R. B. Mannon, 'Late Kidney Allograft Loss: What We Know About It, and What We Can Do About It', *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 3 Suppl 2 (2008), S56-67.
- 104 Y. Z. Jiang, D. Couriel, D. A. Mavroudis, P. Lewalle, V. Malkovska, N. F. Hensel, S. Dermime, J. Molldrem, and A. J. Barrett, 'Interaction of Natural Killer Cells with Mhc Class Ii: Reversal of Hla-Dr1-Mediated Protection of K562 Transfectant from Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Cytolysis by Brefeldin-A', *Immunology*, 87 (1996), 481-6.
- 105 H. M. Johnson, E. N. Noon-Song, K. Kemppainen, and C. M. Ahmed, 'Steroid-Like Signalling by Interferons: Making Sense of Specific Gene Activation by Cytokines', *Biochem J*, 443 (2012), 329-38.
- 106 P. P. Jones, D. B. Murphy, and H. O. McDevitt, 'Variable Synthesis and Expression of E Alpha and Ae (E Beta) Ia Polypeptide Chains in Mice of Different H-2 Haplotypes', *Immunogenetics*, 12 (1981), 321-37.
- 107 E. Kakiashvili, Q. Dan, M. Vandermeer, Y. Zhang, F. Waheed, M. Pham, and K. Szaszi, 'The Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Mediates Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha-Induced Activation of the Erk/Gef-H1/Rhoa Pathway in Tubular Epithelium', *J Biol Chem*, 286 (2011), 9268-79.
- 108 R. Kalluri, and E. G. Neilson, 'Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition and Its Implications for Fibrosis', *J Clin Invest*, 112 (2003), 1776-84.
- 109 F. M. Karlhofer, R. K. Ribaudo, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Mhc Class I Alloantigen Specificity of Ly-49+ II-2-Activated Natural Killer Cells', *Nature*, 358 (1992), 66-70.
- 110 F. M. Karlhofer, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Stimulation of Murine Natural Killer (Nk) Cells by a Monoclonal Antibody Specific for the Nk1.1 Antigen. Il-2-Activated Nk Cells Possess Additional Specific Stimulation Pathways', J Immunol, 146 (1991), 3662-73.
- 111 J. Kaufman, S. Milne, T. W. Gobel, B. A. Walker, J. P. Jacob, C. Auffray, R. Zoorob, and S. Beck, 'The Chicken B Locus Is a Minimal Essential Major Histocompatibility Complex', *Nature*, 401 (1999), 923-5.
- 112 D. Kerjaschki, 'Lymphatic Neoangiogenesis in Renal Transplants: A Driving Force of Chronic Rejection?', *J Nephrol*, 19 (2006), 403-6.
- D. Kerjaschki, N. Huttary, I. Raab, H. Regele, K. Bojarski-Nagy, G. Bartel, S. M. Krober, H. Greinix, A. Rosenmaier, F. Karlhofer, N. Wick, and P. R. Mazal,
  'Lymphatic Endothelial Progenitor Cells Contribute to De Novo Lymphangiogenesis in Human Renal Transplants', *Nat Med*, 12 (2006), 230-4.

- 114 D. Kerjaschki, H. M. Regele, I. Moosberger, K. Nagy-Bojarski, B. Watschinger, A. Soleiman, P. Birner, S. Krieger, A. Hovorka, G. Silberhumer, P. Laakkonen, T. Petrova, B. Langer, and I. Raab, 'Lymphatic Neoangiogenesis in Human Kidney Transplants Is Associated with Immunologically Active Lymphocytic Infiltrates', J Am Soc Nephrol, 15 (2004), 603-12.
- 115 H. J. Kim, J. S. Lee, J. D. Kim, H. J. Cha, A. Kim, S. K. Lee, S. C. Lee, B. S. Kwon, R. S. Mittler, H. R. Cho, and B. Kwon, 'Reverse Signaling through the Costimulatory Ligand Cd1371 in Epithelial Cells Is Essential for Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Acute Tissue Inflammation', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109 (2012), E13-22.
- 116 S. Kim, K. Iizuka, H. S. Kang, A. Dokun, A. R. French, S. Greco, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'In Vivo Developmental Stages in Murine Natural Killer Cell Maturation', *Nat Immunol*, 3 (2002), 523-8.
- S. Kim, J. Poursine-Laurent, S. M. Truscott, L. Lybarger, Y. J. Song, L. Yang, A. R. French, J. B. Sunwoo, S. Lemieux, T. H. Hansen, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Licensing of Natural Killer Cells by Host Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Molecules', *Nature*, 436 (2005), 709-13.
- 118 S. Kim, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Nk Cell Granule Exocytosis and Cytokine Production Inhibited by Ly-49a Engagement', *Cell Immunol*, 183 (1998), 106-12.
- 119 Y. K. Kim, J. T. Kwon, H. L. Jiang, Y. J. Choi, M. H. Cho, and C. S. Cho, 'Kidney-Specific Peptide-Conjugated Poly(Ester Amine) for the Treatment of Kidney Fibrosis', *J Nanosci Nanotechnol*, 12 (2012), 5149-54.
- 120 J. Klein, A. Juretic, C. N. Baxevanis, and Z. A. Nagy, 'The Traditional and a New Version of the Mouse H-2 Complex', *Nature*, 291 (1981), 455-60.
- 121 G. J. Ko, H. R. Jang, Y. Huang, K. L. Womer, M. Liu, E. Higbee, Z. Xiao, H. Yagita, L. Racusen, A. R. Hamad, and H. Rabb, 'Blocking Fas Ligand on Leukocytes Attenuates Kidney Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 22 (2011), 732-42.
- 122 H. Kogelberg, T. A. Frenkiel, B. Birdsall, W. Chai, and F. W. Muskett, 'Binding of Sucrose Octasulphate to the C-Type Lectin-Like Domain of the Recombinant Natural Killer Cell Receptor Nkr-P1a Observed by Nmr Spectroscopy', *Chembiochem*, 3 (2002), 1072-7.
- 123 H. Kogelberg, E. Montero, S. Bay, A. M. Lawson, and T. Feizi, 'Re-Evaluation of Monosaccharide Binding Property of Recombinant Soluble Carbohydrate Recognition Domain of the Natural Killer Cell Receptor Nkr-P1a', *J Biol Chem*, 274 (1999), 30335-6.
- 124 G. C. Koo, J. B. Jacobson, G. J. Hammerling, and U. Hammerling, 'Antigenic Profile of Murine Natural Killer Cells', *J Immunol*, 125 (1980), 1003-6.

- 125 G. C. Koo, and J. R. Peppard, 'Establishment of Monoclonal Anti-Nk-1.1 Antibody', *Hybridoma*, 3 (1984), 301-3.
- 126 G. C. Koo, J. R. Peppard, and A. Hatzfeld, 'Ontogeny of Nk-1+ Natural Killer Cells. I. Promotion of Nk-1+ Cells in Fetal, Baby, and Old Mice', *J Immunol*, 129 (1982), 867-71.
- M. Kosieradzki, and W. Rowinski, 'Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Kidney Transplantation: Mechanisms and Prevention', *Transplant Proc*, 40 (2008), 3279-88.
- 128 E. A. Kouwenhoven, R. W. de Bruin, I. M. Bajema, R. L. Marquet, and J. N. Ijzermans, 'Cold Ischemia Augments Allogeneic-Mediated Injury in Rat Kidney Allografts', *Kidney Int*, 59 (2001), 1142-8.
- 129 J. A. Kummer, P. C. Wever, A. M. Kamp, I. J. ten Berge, C. E. Hack, and J. J. Weening, 'Expression of Granzyme a and B Proteins by Cytotoxic Lymphocytes Involved in Acute Renal Allograft Rejection', *Kidney Int*, 47 (1995), 70-7.
- 130 S. K. Kung, and R. G. Miller, 'The Nk1.1 Antigen in Nk-Mediated F1 Antiparent Killing in Vitro', *J Immunol*, 154 (1995), 1624-33.
- 131 S. K. Kung, R. C. Su, J. Shannon, and R. G. Miller, 'The Nkr-P1b Gene Product Is an Inhibitory Receptor on Sjl/J Nk Cells', *J Immunol*, 162 (1999), 5876-87.
- 132 M. Kuraguchi, H. Cook, E. D. Williams, and G. A. Thomas, 'Differences in Susceptibility to Colonic Stem Cell Somatic Mutation in Three Strains of Mice', J Pathol, 193 (2001), 517-21.
- 133 L. Kveberg, P. Jimenez-Royo, C. Naper, B. Rolstad, G. W. Butcher, J. T. Vaage, and M. Inngjerdingen, 'Two Complementary Rat Nk Cell Subsets, Ly49s3+ and Nkr-P1b+, Differ in Phenotypic Characteristics and Responsiveness to Cytokines', *J Leukoc Biol*, 88 (2010), 87-93.
- 134 M. Lagos-Quintana, R. Rauhut, W. Lendeckel, and T. Tuschl, 'Identification of Novel Genes Coding for Small Expressed Rnas', *Science*, 294 (2001), 853-8.
- 135 L. W. Lai, K. C. Yong, S. Igarashi, and Y. H. Lien, 'A Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Type 1 Receptor Agonist Inhibits the Early T-Cell Transient Following Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *Kidney Int*, 71 (2007), 1223-31.
- 136 L. L. Lanier, C. Chang, and J. H. Phillips, 'Human Nkr-P1a. A Disulfide-Linked Homodimer of the C-Type Lectin Superfamily Expressed by a Subset of Nk and T Lymphocytes', *J Immunol*, 153 (1994), 2417-28.
- 137 L. L. Lanier, A. M. Le, C. I. Civin, M. R. Loken, and J. H. Phillips, 'The Relationship of Cd16 (Leu-11) and Leu-19 (Nkh-1) Antigen Expression on

Human Peripheral Blood Nk Cells and Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes', *J Immunol*, 136 (1986), 4480-6.

- 138 N. C. Lau, L. P. Lim, E. G. Weinstein, and D. P. Bartel, 'An Abundant Class of Tiny Rnas with Probable Regulatory Roles in Caenorhabditis Elegans', *Science*, 294 (2001), 858-62.
- 139 I. Lebedeva, and C. A. Stein, 'Antisense Oligonucleotides: Promise and Reality', *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, 41 (2001), 403-19.
- 140 R. C. Lee, and V. Ambros, 'An Extensive Class of Small Rnas in Caenorhabditis Elegans', *Science*, 294 (2001), 862-4.
- 141 J. Li, B. A. Rabinovich, R. Hurren, J. Shannon, and R. G. Miller, 'Expression Cloning and Function of the Rat Nk Activating and Inhibitory Receptors Nkr-P1a and -P1b', *Int Immunol*, 15 (2003), 411-6.
- 142 L. Li, L. Huang, S. S. Sung, P. I. Lobo, M. G. Brown, R. K. Gregg, V. H. Engelhard, and M. D. Okusa, 'Nkt Cell Activation Mediates Neutrophil Ifn-Gamma Production and Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *J Immunol*, 178 (2007), 5899-911.
- 143 L. P. Lim, N. C. Lau, P. Garrett-Engele, A. Grimson, J. M. Schelter, J. Castle, D. P. Bartel, P. S. Linsley, and J. M. Johnson, 'Microarray Analysis Shows That Some Micrornas Downregulate Large Numbers of Target Mrnas', *Nature*, 433 (2005), 769-73.
- 144 Stefan Somlo Lisa Guay-Woodford, 'Polycystic Kidney Disease', ed. by The National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (Bethesda, MD 2007).
- 145 D. W. Litchfield, 'Protein Kinase Ck2: Structure, Regulation and Role in Cellular Decisions of Life and Death', *Biochem J*, 369 (2003), 1-15.
- 146 T. Liu, T. Matsuguchi, N. Tsuboi, T. Yajima, and Y. Yoshikai, 'Differences in Expression of Toll-Like Receptors and Their Reactivities in Dendritic Cells in Balb/C and C57bl/6 Mice', *Infect Immun*, 70 (2002), 6638-45.
- 147 B. Ljutic, J. R. Carlyle, D. Filipp, R. Nakagawa, M. Julius, and J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker, 'Functional Requirements for Signaling through the Stimulatory and Inhibitory Mouse Nkr-P1 (Cd161) Nk Cell Receptors', *J Immunol*, 174 (2005), 4789-96.
- 148 P. I. Lobo, and H. C. Patel, 'A Novel Role for Mhc Class Ii Antigens: Evidence Implicating a Protective Effect on Tumour Cells against Cytotoxicity by Nk and Lak Cells', *Immunology*, 83 (1994), 240-4.

- 149 P. I. Lobo, and C. E. Spencer, 'Use of Anti-Hla Antibodies to Mask Major Histocompatibility Complex Gene Products on Tumor Cells Can Enhance Susceptibility of These Cells to Lysis by Natural Killer Cells', *J Clin Invest*, 83 (1989), 278-87.
- 150 M. B. Lodoen, and L. L. Lanier, 'Natural Killer Cells as an Initial Defense against Pathogens', *Curr Opin Immunol*, 18 (2006), 391-8.
- J. Lynch, S. Nolan, C. Slattery, R. Feighery, M. P. Ryan, and T. McMorrow,
   'High-Mobility Group Box Protein 1: A Novel Mediator of Inflammatory-Induced Renal Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition', *Am J Nephrol*, 32 (2010), 590-602.
- 152 M. Macarthur, G. L. Hold, and E. M. El-Omar, 'Inflammation and Cancer Ii. Role of Chronic Inflammation and Cytokine Gene Polymorphisms in the Pathogenesis of Gastrointestinal Malignancy', *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 286 (2004), G515-20.
- 153 B. A. Markewitz, J. R. Michael, and D. E. Kohan, 'Cytokine-Induced Expression of a Nitric Oxide Synthase in Rat Renal Tubule Cells', *J Clin Invest*, 91 (1993), 2138-43.
- 154 J. N. Martin, N. Wolken, T. Brown, W. T. Dauer, M. E. Ehrlich, and P. Gonzalez-Alegre, 'Lethal Toxicity Caused by Expression of Shrna in the Mouse Striatum: Implications for Therapeutic Design', *Gene Ther*, 18 (2011), 666-73.
- 155 Sohaila Rastan Mary F. Lyon, S. D. M. Brown, *Genetic Variants and Strains of the Laboratory Mouse*. 3 edn (USA: Oxford University Press, 1996).
- 156 L. H. Mason, S. K. Anderson, W. M. Yokoyama, H. R. Smith, R. Winkler-Pickett, and J. R. Ortaldo, 'The Ly-49d Receptor Activates Murine Natural Killer Cells', *J Exp Med*, 184 (1996), 2119-28.
- 157 D. J. Mathis, C. Benoist, V. E. Williams, 2nd, M. Kanter, and H. O. McDevitt, 'Several Mechanisms Can Account for Defective E Alpha Gene Expression in Different Mouse Haplotypes', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 80 (1983), 273-7.
- J. L. McBride, R. L. Boudreau, S. Q. Harper, P. D. Staber, A. M. Monteys, I. Martins, B. L. Gilmore, H. Burstein, R. W. Peluso, B. Polisky, B. J. Carter, and B. L. Davidson, 'Artificial Mirnas Mitigate Shrna-Mediated Toxicity in the Brain: Implications for the Therapeutic Development of Rnai', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105 (2008), 5868-73.
- 159 A. P. McCaffrey, H. Nakai, K. Pandey, Z. Huang, F. H. Salazar, H. Xu, S. F. Wieland, P. L. Marion, and M. A. Kay, 'Inhibition of Hepatitis B Virus in Mice by Rna Interference', *Nat Biotechnol*, 21 (2003), 639-44.
- 160 M. J. McCall, P. Hendry, and P. A. Jennings, 'Minimal Sequence Requirements for Ribozyme Activity', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89 (1992), 5710-4.

- 161 H. O. McDevitt, 'The Role of H-2 I Region Genes in Regulation of the Immune Response', *J Immunogenet*, 8 (1981), 287-95.
- 162 D. Medina, 'Mammary Tumorigenesis in Chemical Carcinogen-Treated Mice. I. Incidence in Balb-C and C57bl Mice', *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 53 (1974), 213-21.
- 163 A. Mehrabi, A. Mood Zh, M. Sadeghi, B. M. Schmied, S. A. Muller, T. Welsch, G. Kuttymuratov, M. N. Wente, J. Weitz, M. Zeier, Ch Morath, C. Riediger, P. Schemmer, J. Encke, M. W. Buchler, and J. Schmidt, 'Thymoglobulin and Ischemia Reperfusion Injury in Kidney and Liver Transplantation', *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 22 Suppl 8 (2007), viii54-viii60.
- 164 T. M. Millar, V. Phan, and L. A. Tibbles, 'Ros Generation in Endothelial Hypoxia and Reoxygenation Stimulates Map Kinase Signaling and Kinase-Dependent Neutrophil Recruitment', *Free Radic Biol Med*, 42 (2007), 1165-77.
- 165 M. Miravete, J. Klein, A. Besse-Patin, J. Gonzalez, C. Pecher, J. L. Bascands, M. Mercier-Bonin, J. P. Schanstra, and B. Buffin-Meyer, 'Renal Tubular Fluid Shear Stress Promotes Endothelial Cell Activation', *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 407 (2011), 813-7.
- 166 K. Mohib, Q. Guan, H. Diao, C. Du, and A. M. Jevnikar, 'Proapoptotic Activity of Indoleamine 2,3-Dioxygenase Expressed in Renal Tubular Epithelial Cells', *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 293 (2007), F801-12.
- 167 S. Moncada, R. M. Palmer, and E. A. Higgs, 'Nitric Oxide: Physiology, Pathophysiology, and Pharmacology', *Pharmacol Rev*, 43 (1991), 109-42.
- 168 M. Nakayama, K. Takeda, M. Kawano, T. Takai, N. Ishii, and K. Ogasawara, 'Natural Killer (Nk)-Dendritic Cell Interactions Generate Mhc Class Ii-Dressed Nk Cells That Regulate Cd4+ T Cells', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108 (2011), 18360-5.
- 169 B. J. Nankivell, and J. R. Chapman, 'Chronic Allograft Nephropathy: Current Concepts and Future Directions', *Transplantation*, 81 (2006), 643-54.
- 170 J. F. Navarro, and C. Mora-Fernandez, 'The Role of Tnf-Alpha in Diabetic Nephropathy: Pathogenic and Therapeutic Implications', *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev*, 17 (2006), 441-50.
- 171 T. J. Nice, L. Coscoy, and D. H. Raulet, 'Posttranslational Regulation of the Nkg2d Ligand Mult1 in Response to Cell Stress', *J Exp Med*, 206 (2009), 287-98.
- 172 A. Nigam, and S. L. Kopecky, 'Therapeutic Potential of Monoclonal Antibodies in Myocardial Reperfusion Injury', *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs*, 2 (2002), 367-76.
- 173 S. Nogae, M. Miyazaki, N. Kobayashi, T. Saito, K. Abe, H. Saito, P. K. Nakane, Y. Nakanishi, and T. Koji, 'Induction of Apoptosis in Ischemia-Reperfusion

Model of Mouse Kidney: Possible Involvement of Fas', *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 9 (1998), 620-31.

- P. A. Nony, and R. G. Schnellmann, 'Mechanisms of Renal Cell Repair and Regeneration after Acute Renal Failure', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 304 (2003), 905-12.
- 175 A. Oberst, C. P. Dillon, R. Weinlich, L. L. McCormick, P. Fitzgerald, C. Pop, R. Hakem, G. S. Salvesen, and D. R. Green, 'Catalytic Activity of the Caspase-8-Flip(L) Complex Inhibits Ripk3-Dependent Necrosis', *Nature*, 471 (2011), 363-7.
- 176 C. T. Okamoto, W. Song, M. Bomsel, and K. E. Mostov, 'Rapid Internalization of the Polymeric Immunoglobulin Receptor Requires Phosphorylated Serine 726', J *Biol Chem*, 269 (1994), 15676-82.
- 177 C. Olive, C. Cheung, and M. C. Falk, 'Apoptosis and Expression of Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Effector Molecules in Renal Allografts', *Transpl Immunol*, 7 (1999), 27-36.
- 178 J. S. Orange, M. S. Fassett, L. A. Koopman, J. E. Boyson, and J. L. Strominger, 'Viral Evasion of Natural Killer Cells', *Nat Immunol*, 3 (2002), 1006-12.
- 179 A. Ortiz-Arduan, T. M. Danoff, R. Kalluri, S. Gonzalez-Cuadrado, S. L. Karp, K. Elkon, J. Egido, and E. G. Neilson, 'Regulation of Fas and Fas Ligand Expression in Cultured Murine Renal Cells and in the Kidney During Endotoxemia', *Am J Physiol*, 271 (1996), F1193-201.
- 180 M. D. Pascoe, S. E. Marshall, K. I. Welsh, L. M. Fulton, and D. A. Hughes, 'Increased Accuracy of Renal Allograft Rejection Diagnosis Using Combined Perforin, Granzyme B, and Fas Ligand Fine-Needle Aspiration Immunocytology', *Transplantation*, 69 (2000), 2547-53.
- 181 B. Plougastel, C. Dubbelde, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Cloning of Clr, a New Family of Lectin-Like Genes Localized between Mouse Nkrp1a and Cd69', *Immunogenetics*, 53 (2001), 209-14.
- 182 B. F. Plougastel, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Extending Missing-Self? Functional Interactions between Lectin-Like Nkrp1 Receptors on Nk Cells with Lectin-Like Ligands', *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 298 (2006), 77-89.
- 183 B. Plougastel, K. Matsumoto, C. Dubbelde, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Analysis of a 1-Mb Bac Contig Overlapping the Mouse Nkrp1 Cluster of Genes: Cloning of Three New Nkrp1 Members, Nkrp1d, Nkrp1e, and Nkrp1f', *Immunogenetics*, 53 (2001), 592-8.
- 184 M. Poljakovic, D. Karpman, C. Svanborg, and K. Persson, 'Human Renal Epithelial Cells Express Inos in Response to Cytokines but Not Bacteria', *Kidney Int*, 61 (2002), 444-55.

- 185 C. Pop, A. Oberst, M. Drag, B. J. Van Raam, S. J. Riedl, D. R. Green, and G. S. Salvesen, 'Flip(L) Induces Caspase 8 Activity in the Absence of Interdomain Caspase 8 Cleavage and Alters Substrate Specificity', *Biochem J*, 433 (2011), 447-57.
- 186 D. E. Powell, and A. D. Steinberg, 'The Pathogenesis of Autoimmunity in New Zealand Mice. Iv. Independent Stimulation of Antibodies to DNA and Rna', *Clin Exp Immunol*, 12 (1972), 419-27.
- 187 'Prostate Enlargement: Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia', ed. by National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (Bethesda, MD 2006).
- 188 H. Rabb, F. Daniels, M. O'Donnell, M. Haq, S. R. Saba, W. Keane, and W. W. Tang, 'Pathophysiological Role of T Lymphocytes in Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury in Mice', *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*, 279 (2000), F525-31.
- 189 D. D. Rao, J. S. Vorhies, N. Senzer, and J. Nemunaitis, 'Sirna Vs. Shrna: Similarities and Differences', *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 61 (2009), 746-59.
- 190 D. H. Raulet, and R. E. Vance, 'Self-Tolerance of Natural Killer Cells', *Nat Rev Immunol*, 6 (2006), 520-31.
- 191 R. A. Risdon, J. C. Sloper, and H. E. De Wardener, 'Relationship between Renal Function and Histological Changes Found in Renal-Biopsy Specimens from Patients with Persistent Glomerular Nephritis', *Lancet*, 2 (1968), 363-6.
- H. R. Rodewald, K. Kretzschmar, S. Takeda, C. Hohl, and M. Dessing,
   'Identification of Pro-Thymocytes in Murine Fetal Blood: T Lineage Commitment Can Precede Thymus Colonization', *EMBO J*, 13 (1994), 4229-40.
- 193 P. Romagnani, C. Pupilli, L. Lasagni, M. C. Baccari, F. Bellini, A. Amorosi, E. Bertoni, and M. Serio, 'Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase Expression in Vascular and Glomerular Structures of Human Chronic Allograft Nephropathy', *J Pathol*, 187 (1999), 345-50.
- 194 D. B. Rosen, J. Bettadapura, M. Alsharifi, P. A. Mathew, H. S. Warren, and L. L. Lanier, 'Cutting Edge: Lectin-Like Transcript-1 Is a Ligand for the Inhibitory Human Nkr-P1a Receptor', *J Immunol*, 175 (2005), 7796-9.
- 195 H. Rosen, and S. J. Klebanoff, 'Hydroxyl Radical Generation by Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes Measured by Electron Spin Resonance Spectroscopy', J Clin Invest, 64 (1979), 1725-9.
- 196 J. H. Russell, B. Rush, C. Weaver, and R. Wang, 'Mature T Cells of Autoimmune Lpr/Lpr Mice Have a Defect in Antigen-Stimulated Suicide', *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 90 (1993), 4409-13.

- 198 J. C. Ryan, E. C. Niemi, M. C. Nakamura, and W. E. Seaman, 'Nkr-P1a Is a Target-Specific Receptor That Activates Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity', *J Exp Med*, 181 (1995), 1911-5.
- 199 J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman, 'Divergent Functions of Lectin-Like Receptors on Nk Cells', *Immunol Rev*, 155 (1997), 79-89.
- 200 J. C. Ryan, J. Turck, E. C. Niemi, W. M. Yokoyama, and W. E. Seaman, 'Molecular Cloning of the Nk1.1 Antigen, a Member of the Nkr-P1 Family of Natural Killer Cell Activation Molecules', *J Immunol*, 149 (1992), 1631-5.
- 201 S. R. Satpute, J. M. Park, H. R. Jang, P. Agreda, M. Liu, M. T. Gandolfo, L. Racusen, and H. Rabb, 'The Role for T Cell Repertoire/Antigen-Specific Interactions in Experimental Kidney Ischemia Reperfusion Injury', *J Immunol*, 183 (2009), 984-92.
- 202 J. R. Schelling, and R. P. Cleveland, 'Involvement of Fas-Dependent Apoptosis in Renal Tubular Epithelial Cell Deletion in Chronic Renal Failure', *Kidney Int*, 56 (1999), 1313-6.
- 203 L. J. Scherer, and J. J. Rossi, 'Approaches for the Sequence-Specific Knockdown of Mrna', *Nat Biotechnol*, 21 (2003), 1457-65.
- K. Schroder, P. J. Hertzog, T. Ravasi, and D. A. Hume, 'Interferon-Gamma: An Overview of Signals, Mechanisms and Functions', *J Leukoc Biol*, 75 (2004), 163-89.
- 205 P. Scott, P. Natovitz, R. L. Coffman, E. Pearce, and A. Sher, 'Immunoregulation of Cutaneous Leishmaniasis. T Cell Lines That Transfer Protective Immunity or Exacerbation Belong to Different T Helper Subsets and Respond to Distinct Parasite Antigens', *J Exp Med*, 168 (1988), 1675-84.
- P. Sedlmayr, L. Schallhammer, A. Hammer, M. Wilders-Truschnig, R.
   Wintersteiger, and G. Dohr, 'Differential Phenotypic Properties of Human Peripheral Blood Cd56dim+ and Cd56bright+ Natural Killer Cell Subpopulations', *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*, 110 (1996), 308-13.
- 207 D. C. Seldin, 'New Models of Lymphoma in Transgenic Mice', *Curr Opin Immunol*, 7 (1995), 665-73.
- 208 D. C. Seldin, and P. Leder, 'Casein Kinase Ii Alpha Transgene-Induced Murine Lymphoma: Relation to Theileriosis in Cattle', *Science*, 267 (1995), 894-7.

- 209 C. Senn, C. Hangartner, S. Moes, D. Guerini, and K. G. Hofbauer, 'Central Administration of Small Interfering Rnas in Rats: A Comparison with Antisense Oligonucleotides', *Eur J Pharmacol*, 522 (2005), 30-7.
- 210 C. L. Sentman, J. Hackett, Jr., T. A. Moore, M. M. Tutt, M. Bennett, and V. Kumar, 'Pan Natural Killer Cell Monoclonal Antibodies and Their Relationship to the Nk1.1 Antigen', *Hybridoma*, 8 (1989), 605-14.
- 211 V. K. Sharma, R. M. Bologa, B. Li, G. P. Xu, M. Lagman, W. Hiscock, J. Mouradian, J. Wang, D. Serur, V. K. Rao, and M. Suthanthiran, 'Molecular Executors of Cell Death--Differential Intrarenal Expression of Fas Ligand, Fas, Granzyme B, and Perforin During Acute and/or Chronic Rejection of Human Renal Allografts', *Transplantation*, 62 (1996), 1860-6.
- 212 B. S. Sheridan, and L. Lefrancois, 'Regional and Mucosal Memory T Cells', *Nat Immunol*, 12 (2011), 485-91.
- 213 T. Shiina, S. Shimizu, K. Hosomichi, S. Kohara, S. Watanabe, K. Hanzawa, S. Beck, J. K. Kulski, and H. Inoko, 'Comparative Genomic Analysis of Two Avian (Quail and Chicken) Mhc Regions', *J Immunol*, 172 (2004), 6751-63.
- D. A. Shoskes, and P. F. Halloran, 'Delayed Graft Function in Renal Transplantation: Etiology, Management and Long-Term Significance', *J Urol*, 155 (1996), 1831-40.
- 215 R. M. Siegel, F. K. Chan, H. J. Chun, and M. J. Lenardo, 'The Multifaceted Role of Fas Signaling in Immune Cell Homeostasis and Autoimmunity', *Nat Immunol*, 1 (2000), 469-74.
- A. Silva, D. M. Andrews, A. G. Brooks, M. J. Smyth, and Y. Hayakawa,
   'Application of Cd27 as a Marker for Distinguishing Human Nk Cell Subsets', *Int Immunol*, 20 (2008), 625-30.
- 217 H. R. Smith, H. H. Chuang, L. L. Wang, M. Salcedo, J. W. Heusel, and W. M. Yokoyama, 'Nonstochastic Coexpression of Activation Receptors on Murine Natural Killer Cells', *J Exp Med*, 191 (2000), 1341-54.
- 218 P. Stenvinkel, O. Heimburger, F. Paultre, U. Diczfalusy, T. Wang, L. Berglund, and T. Jogestrand, 'Strong Association between Malnutrition, Inflammation, and Atherosclerosis in Chronic Renal Failure', *Kidney Int*, 55 (1999), 1899-911.
- 219 M. Stern, and R. Herrmann, 'Overview of Monoclonal Antibodies in Cancer Therapy: Present and Promise', *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol*, 54 (2005), 11-29.
- 220 I. Stroo, G. Stokman, G. J. Teske, A. Raven, L. M. Butter, S. Florquin, and J. C. Leemans, 'Chemokine Expression in Renal Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury Is Most Profound During the Reparative Phase', *Int Immunol*, 22 (2010), 433-42.

- A. Sulica, C. Galatiuc, M. Manciulea, A. C. Bancu, A. DeLeo, T. L. Whiteside, and R. B. Herberman, 'Regulation of Human Natural Cytotoxicity by Igg. Iv. Association between Binding of Monomeric Igg to the Fc Receptors on Large Granular Lymphocytes and Inhibition of Natural Killer (Nk) Cell Activity', *Cell Immunol*, 147 (1993), 397-410.
- 222 B. Sun, L. V. Rizzo, S. H. Sun, C. C. Chan, B. Wiggert, R. L. Wilder, and R. R. Caspi, 'Genetic Susceptibility to Experimental Autoimmune Uveitis Involves More Than a Predisposition to Generate a T Helper-1-Like or a T Helper-2-Like Response', *J Immunol*, 159 (1997), 1004-11.
- 223 U.S. Renal Data System, 'Usrds 2009 Annual Data Report: Atlas of End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States', in *National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases*, ed. by National Institutes of Health (Bethesda, MD, 2009).
- L. A. Tartaglia, and D. V. Goeddel, 'Two Tnf Receptors', *Immunol Today*, 13 (1992), 151-3.
- 225 R. Thadhani, M. Pascual, and J. V. Bonventre, 'Acute Renal Failure', *N Engl J Med*, 334 (1996), 1448-60.
- O. Thaunat, A. C. Field, J. Dai, L. Louedec, N. Patey, M. F. Bloch, C. Mandet, M. F. Belair, P. Bruneval, O. Meilhac, B. Bellon, E. Joly, J. B. Michel, and A. Nicoletti, 'Lymphoid Neogenesis in Chronic Rejection: Evidence for a Local Humoral Alloimmune Response', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102 (2005), 14723-8.
- M. Thome, P. Schneider, K. Hofmann, H. Fickenscher, E. Meinl, F. Neipel, C. Mattmann, K. Burns, J. L. Bodmer, M. Schroter, C. Scaffidi, P. H. Krammer, M. E. Peter, and J. Tschopp, 'Viral Flice-Inhibitory Proteins (Flips) Prevent Apoptosis Induced by Death Receptors', *Nature*, 386 (1997), 517-21.
- 228 J. D. Thompson, 'Applications of Antisense and Sirnas During Preclinical Drug Development', *Drug Discov Today*, 7 (2002), 912-7.
- 229 W. Tian, B. Feng, and H. C. Liou, 'Silencing Ocilrp2 Leads to Intrinsic Defects in T Cells in Response to Antigenic Stimulation', *Cell Immunol*, 235 (2005), 72-84.
- 230 W. Tian, R. Nunez, S. Cheng, Y. Ding, J. Tumang, C. Lyddane, C. Roman, and H. C. Liou, 'C-Type Lectin Ocilrp2/Clr-G and Its Ligand Nkrp1f Costimulate T Cell Proliferation and II-2 Production', *Cell Immunol*, 234 (2005), 39-53.
- J. M. Tikkanen, P. K. Koskinen, and K. B. Lemstrom, 'Role of Endogenous Endothelin-1 in Transplant Obliterative Airway Disease in the Rat', Am J Transplant, 4 (2004), 713-20.

- 232 L. H. Toledo-Pereyra, F. Lopez-Neblina, and A. H. Toledo, 'Reactive Oxygen Species and Molecular Biology of Ischemia/Reperfusion', *Ann Transplant*, 9 (2004), 81-3.
- A. W. Tong, Y. A. Zhang, and J. Nemunaitis, 'Small Interfering Rna for Experimental Cancer Therapy', *Curr Opin Mol Ther*, 7 (2005), 114-24.
- 234 J. Tran, S. Mahmood, J. R. Carlyle, and S. K. Kung, 'Altering the Specificity of Nk:Target Cell Interactions by Genetic Manipulation of Nk Receptor Expression on Primary Mouse Nk Cells', *Vaccine*, 28 (2010), 3767-72.
- C. Troppmann, K. J. Gillingham, E. Benedetti, P. S. Almond, R. W. Gruessner, J. S. Najarian, and A. J. Matas, 'Delayed Graft Function, Acute Rejection, and Outcome after Cadaver Renal Transplantation. The Multivariate Analysis', *Transplantation*, 59 (1995), 962-8.
- J. M. Turner, M. H. Brodsky, B. A. Irving, S. D. Levin, R. M. Perlmutter, and D. R. Littman, 'Interaction of the Unique N-Terminal Region of Tyrosine Kinase P56lck with Cytoplasmic Domains of Cd4 and Cd8 Is Mediated by Cysteine Motifs', *Cell*, 60 (1990), 755-65.
- 237 R. L. Ullrich, N. D. Bowles, L. C. Satterfield, and C. M. Davis, 'Strain-Dependent Susceptibility to Radiation-Induced Mammary Cancer Is a Result of Differences in Epithelial Cell Sensitivity to Transformation', *Radiat Res*, 146 (1996), 353-5.
- E. E. Varfolomeev, M. Schuchmann, V. Luria, N. Chiannilkulchai, J. S. Beckmann, I. L. Mett, D. Rebrikov, V. M. Brodianski, O. C. Kemper, O. Kollet, T. Lapidot, D. Soffer, T. Sobe, K. B. Avraham, T. Goncharov, H. Holtmann, P. Lonai, and D. Wallach, 'Targeted Disruption of the Mouse Caspase 8 Gene Ablates Cell Death Induction by the Tnf Receptors, Fas/Apo1, and Dr3 and Is Lethal Prenatally', *Immunity*, 9 (1998), 267-76.
- 239 L. M. Vasconcellos, A. D. Schachter, X. X. Zheng, L. H. Vasconcellos, M. Shapiro, W. E. Harmon, and T. B. Strom, 'Cytotoxic Lymphocyte Gene Expression in Peripheral Blood Leukocytes Correlates with Rejecting Renal Allografts', *Transplantation*, 66 (1998), 562-6.
- 240 D. Vercammen, R. Beyaert, G. Denecker, V. Goossens, G. Van Loo, W. Declercq, J. Grooten, W. Fiers, and P. Vandenabeele, 'Inhibition of Caspases Increases the Sensitivity of L929 Cells to Necrosis Mediated by Tumor Necrosis Factor', *J Exp Med*, 187 (1998), 1477-85.
- 241 I. Viard-Leveugle, O. Gaide, D. Jankovic, L. Feldmeyer, K. Kerl, C. Pickard, S. Roques, P. S. Friedmann, E. Contassot, and L. E. French, 'Tnf-Alpha and Ifn-Gamma Are Potential Inducers of Fas-Mediated Keratinocyte Apoptosis through Activation of Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase in Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis', J Invest Dermatol (2012).

- S. Voigt, A. Mesci, J. Ettinger, J. H. Fine, P. Chen, W. Chou, and J. R. Carlyle, 'Cytomegalovirus Evasion of Innate Immunity by Subversion of the Nkr-P1b:Clr-B Missing-Self Axis', *Immunity*, 26 (2007), 617-27.
- 243 S. Voigt, G. R. Sandford, L. Ding, and W. H. Burns, 'Identification and Characterization of a Spliced C-Type Lectin-Like Gene Encoded by Rat Cytomegalovirus', *J Virol*, 75 (2001), 603-11.
- A. Vongwiwatana, A. Tasanarong, D. C. Rayner, A. Melk, and P. F. Halloran,
   'Epithelial to Mesenchymal Transition During Late Deterioration of Human
   Kidney Transplants: The Role of Tubular Cells in Fibrogenesis', *Am J Transplant*,
   5 (2005), 1367-74.
- 245 M. T. Vossen, M. Matmati, K. M. Hertoghs, P. A. Baars, M. R. Gent, G. Leclercq, J. Hamann, T. W. Kuijpers, and R. A. van Lier, 'Cd27 Defines Phenotypically and Functionally Different Human Nk Cell Subsets', *J Immunol*, 180 (2008), 3739-45.
- 246 N. L. Vujanovic, 'Role of Tnf Family Ligands in Antitumor Activity of Natural Killer Cells', *Int Rev Immunol*, 20 (2001), 415-37.
- 247 N. A. Wahab, and R. M. Mason, 'A Critical Look at Growth Factors and Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition in the Adult Kidney. Interrelationships between Growth Factors That Regulate Emt in the Adult Kidney', *Nephron Exp Nephrol*, 104 (2006), e129-34.
- 248 H. Wajant, K. Pfizenmaier, and P. Scheurich, 'Tumor Necrosis Factor Signaling', *Cell Death Differ*, 10 (2003), 45-65.
- 249 H. Wajant, and P. Scheurich, 'Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor-Associated Factor (Traf) 2 and Its Role in Tnf Signaling', *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 33 (2001), 19-32.
- 250 J. Wang, Z. Li, R. Al-Lamki, N. Zuo, J. R. Bradley, and L. Wang, 'The Role of Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha Converting Enzyme in Renal Transplant Rejection', *Am J Nephrol*, 32 (2010), 362-8.
- 251 C. Ward, H. Robertson, I. A. Forrest, J. Lordan, D. Murphy, J. H. Dark, P. A. Corris, D. E. Jones, and J. A. Kirby, 'Hypothesis: Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition Is a Common Cause of Chronic Allograft Failure', *Transplant Proc*, 37 (2005), 977-80.
- H. Watanabe, K. Numata, T. Ito, K. Takagi, and A. Matsukawa, 'Innate Immune Response in Th1- and Th2-Dominant Mouse Strains', *Shock*, 22 (2004), 460-6.
- 253 P. C. Wever, J. G. Boonstra, J. C. Laterveer, C. E. Hack, F. J. van der Woude, M. R. Daha, and I. J. ten Berge, 'Mechanisms of Lymphocyte-Mediated Cytotoxicity in Acute Renal Allograft Rejection', *Transplantation*, 66 (1998), 259-64.

- 254 Bessie Young William McClellan, 'The Kidneys and How They Work', ed. by National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse (Bethesda, MD, 2009).
- 255 K. J. Williams, E. Wilson, C. L. Davidson, O. A. Aguilar, L. Fu, J. R. Carlyle, and D. N. Burshtyn, 'Poxvirus Infection-Associated Downregulation of C-Type Lectin-Related-B Prevents Nk Cell Inhibition by Nk Receptor Protein-1b', J Immunol, 188 (2012), 4980-91.
- 256 R. A. Wolfe, V. B. Ashby, E. L. Milford, A. O. Ojo, R. E. Ettenger, L. Y. Agodoa, P. J. Held, and F. K. Port, 'Comparison of Mortality in All Patients on Dialysis, Patients on Dialysis Awaiting Transplantation, and Recipients of a First Cadaveric Transplant', *N Engl J Med*, 341 (1999), 1725-30.
- 257 C. K. Wong, A. W. Ho, P. C. Tong, C. Y. Yeung, A. P. Kong, S. W. Lun, J. C. Chan, and C. W. Lam, 'Aberrant Activation Profile of Cytokines and Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinases in Type 2 Diabetic Patients with Nephropathy', *Clin Exp Immunol*, 149 (2007), 123-31.
- 258 W. C. Yeh, A. Itie, A. J. Elia, M. Ng, H. B. Shu, A. Wakeham, C. Mirtsos, N. Suzuki, M. Bonnard, D. V. Goeddel, and T. W. Mak, 'Requirement for Casper (C-Flip) in Regulation of Death Receptor-Induced Apoptosis and Embryonic Development', *Immunity*, 12 (2000), 633-42.
- 259 W. C. Yeh, J. L. Pompa, M. E. McCurrach, H. B. Shu, A. J. Elia, A. Shahinian, M. Ng, A. Wakeham, W. Khoo, K. Mitchell, W. S. El-Deiry, S. W. Lowe, D. V. Goeddel, and T. W. Mak, 'Fadd: Essential for Embryo Development and Signaling from Some, but Not All, Inducers of Apoptosis', *Science*, 279 (1998), 1954-8.
- 260 W. M. Yokoyama, and B. F. Plougastel, 'Immune Functions Encoded by the Natural Killer Gene Complex', *Nat Rev Immunol*, 3 (2003), 304-16.
- 261 D. K. Ysebaert, K. E. De Greef, S. R. Vercauteren, M. Ghielli, G. A. Verpooten, E. J. Eyskens, and M. E. De Broe, 'Identification and Kinetics of Leukocytes after Severe Ischaemia/Reperfusion Renal Injury', *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 15 (2000), 1562-74.
- 262 D. K. Ysebaert, K. E. De Greef, S. R. Vercauteren, A. Verhulst, M. Kockx, G. A. Verpooten, and M. E. De Broe, 'Effect of Immunosuppression on Damage, Leukocyte Infiltration, and Regeneration after Severe Warm Ischemia/Reperfusion Renal Injury', *Kidney Int*, 64 (2003), 864-73.
- 263 D. W. Zhang, J. Shao, J. Lin, N. Zhang, B. J. Lu, S. C. Lin, M. Q. Dong, and J. Han, 'Rip3, an Energy Metabolism Regulator That Switches Tnf-Induced Cell Death from Apoptosis to Necrosis', *Science*, 325 (2009), 332-6.

- 264 Z. X. Zhang, K. Shek, S. Wang, X. Huang, A. Lau, Z. Yin, H. Sun, W. Liu, B. Garcia, S. Rittling, and A. M. Jevnikar, 'Osteopontin Expressed in Tubular Epithelial Cells Regulates Nk Cell-Mediated Kidney Ischemia Reperfusion Injury', *J Immunol*, 185 (2010), 967-73.
- Z. X. Zhang, S. Wang, X. Huang, W. P. Min, H. Sun, W. Liu, B. Garcia, and A. M. Jevnikar, 'Nk Cells Induce Apoptosis in Tubular Epithelial Cells and Contribute to Renal Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury', *J Immunol*, 181 (2008), 7489-98.
- 266 X. Zheng, X. Zhang, H. Sun, B. Feng, M. Li, G. Chen, C. Vladau, D. Chen, M. Suzuki, L. Min, W. Liu, R. Zhong, B. Garcia, A. Jevnikar, and W. P. Min, 'Protection of Renal Ischemia Injury Using Combination Gene Silencing of Complement 3 and Caspase 3 Genes', *Transplantation*, 82 (2006), 1781-6.
- 267 H. Zhou, V. Kartsogiannis, J. M. Quinn, C. Ly, C. Gange, J. Elliott, K. W. Ng, and M. T. Gillespie, 'Osteoclast Inhibitory Lectin, a Family of New Osteoclast Inhibitors', *J Biol Chem*, 277 (2002), 48808-15.
- A. Zingoni, T. Sornasse, B. G. Cocks, Y. Tanaka, A. Santoni, and L. L. Lanier, 'Nk Cell Regulation of T Cell-Mediated Responses', *Mol Immunol*, 42 (2005), 451-4.

# Curriculum Vitae

#### JAMES YIP

### **EDUCATION & TRAINING**

MSc in Pathology, Western University, London, ON 2010 – Present

BMSc, Honors Specialization in Pathology & Toxicology, Western University, London, ON 2005 – 2009

#### **RESEARCH EXPERIENCE & PUBLICATIONS**

Regulation of NK cell-mediated tubular epithelial cell death and kidneyischemia-reperfusion injury by the NKR-P1B receptor and Clr-b, WesternUniversity, London, ON2010 – Present

In vitro endothelial differentiation of infantile hemangioma-derived CD133positive stem cells Western University, London, ON 2008 – 2009

Intrinsic regulation of hemangioma involution by platelet-derived growth factor (published in Cell Death and Disease (2012)) Western University, London, ON 2008 – 2009

#### **PRESENTATIONS**

**Regulation of NK cell-mediated tubular epithelial cell death and kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury by NKR-P1 receptors and CIr-b**, James Yip, Anthony M. Jevnikar, Zhu-Xu Zhang

ATC Congress 2012, American Transplant Congress, Boston MA 2012

2012 CST Annual Scientific Conference, Canadian Society of Transplantation, Quebec City, QC 2012

London Health Research Day, Western University, London, ON 2012

Pathology Research Day, Western University, London, ON 2011, 2012

Department of Medicine Research Day, Western University, London, ON 2011, 2012

Margaret P. Moffat Research Day, Western University, London, ON 2011

Lawson Research Day, London Health Sciences Centre, London, ON 2011

## **RELATED WORK EXPERIENCE**

Pathology 3240A Tutor, Western University, London, ON	2012 – Present
ACADEMIC AWARDS/FUNDING	
Dutkevich Memorial Foundation Travel Award	2012
Western Graduate Research Scholarship	2010 – 2012
Schulich Graduate Scholarship	2010 – 2012
Queen Elizabeth II Aiming for the Top Scholarship	2005 – 2009
Western Scholarship of Distinction	2005